
Borough of Bellefonte Council Work Session 
AGENDA 

6:30 – 7:25 PM, Monday, February 3rd, 2025 
In-Person, Large Room,  

301 N. Spring St, 1st Floor 

 VIEW RECORDING OF WORK SESSIONS and BOROUGH COUNCIL MEETINGS       
       Recordings can be viewed on CNET, Comcast’s Government Education Channel 7, or at  

  www.cnet1.org ATTEND IN PERSON.  The meeting room is open with normal occupancy limits.  

I. CALL TO ORDER – Council President Dann

II. WELCOMING COMMENTS / OPENING REMARKS:
A) Welcome everyone to the Bellefonte Borough Council Work Session. No council

action (making motions or approvals) is taken during work sessions.

III. ITEMS FOR DISCUSSION:
Note – All Times are approximate
A) Lighting at Masullo Park
B) Follow up Discussion from Community organization’s “State of Affairs” Updates
C) Work Session Ice breaker ideas

IV. ADJOURNMENT
The Work Session will be adjourned at or before 7:25 PM. The Borough Council Business Meeting is
scheduled to start at 7:30 PM.

Bellefonte Borough Council Packet February 3, 2025

Page 1 of 143

http://www.cnet1.org/


���������	
���
�������
����
�������
���������������
�� �����!"
#$$�������!"%&����'�(��)�*!�+,-���.��
/01201314
2567
8�9� :��)"
;��<�=�
#=���<�=�%&����'�(��)�*!�+,>
8�?���
@�"�=�?
#�A�"�=�?%&����'�(��)�*!�+,
BCDEFEGHIJHEKL
BGGEGHJFHMNINOPQ
NR
MLSSLRNFHLTUV
W
XYZ[\]
X̂
X̂_
̀UUa_bb_cd\̂_e
fg
VhìTjcc[k_l
miVno
TppqVpUV
rŝt
̀VU
uvsl
miVno
TpTq̀TVpw_xy[̂_l
ẑ̂Yyl{{x_bb_cd\̂_t\_̂{|}~��
����
�������
�����������������������������
��������
�������
���
� �¡
¢£¤¢
¥¦§~�
¦��̈���
¦©ª�������
�««©©�����������������������¬��®̄�°��
±�²
���«̈��̈��
���«
ª����©�
³��«
́µ¶·
 ¹̧º»
»¼½½¾¿À¼ÁÂ¶µÃÄ
ÅÆÆÇ·ÈÈ
 ÉÊËÌÊËÍÍÎÏÐËÑÒÓÔÊÕÕÖÉÕ×ØÙÚÛ·
́Ü¶Ý·Ç
 Þßàáâ
ãäåæçèàäé·êµÇë¶·Ûë
 ì¹Á¹íÀ»
îïï¾ð¼ñ·ÈÈµò·
 ó
ôõ
öÁ¾½¾¿À
½¹÷ôø
½¹
ð¹õù�ô¾¿
ô�¹í½
½»¼
ï�¹¹÷
�¾À»½
ø¹í
�¼¼ù
ùí½½¾¿À
¾¿
½»¼
ùôÁ�
¹¿
Á¼ø¿¹�÷º
ô�¼�
�
�ôº½
ø¼ôÁ
ó
ð¹õù�ô¾¿¼÷
ô�¹í½
»¹ö¹�¿¹�¾¹íº
½»¼
�¾À»½
öôº
��¾¿÷¾¿À
�¹½»
õ¼
ô¿÷
õø
÷¹À
ôº
ö¼
½Áø
½¹
öô��
ô½
ß
¼�¼Áø
÷ôø
�
�»¼
�¾À»½
¼�¼¿
º½ôøº
¹¿
¾¿½¹
½»¼
ºí¿Á¾º¼
ö»¼¿¾½
¾º
¿¹½
¿¼¼÷¼÷�
ó
ö¹¿÷¼Á
ö»ø
¾½º
½»¼Á¼
º¾¿ð¼
½»¼
ùôÁ�
º¾À¿
ºôøº
ð�¼ôÁ�ø
÷íº�
½¾��
÷ôö¿
ô¿÷
»ôº
»ô÷
ºíïï¾ð¾¼¿½
�¾À»½¾¿À
ï¹Á
½»¼
ùôº½
äàø¼ôÁº
ó	�¼
öô��¼÷
½»¼Á¼�
ó
ôõ
ô�º¹
ðíÁ¾¹íº
ö»ø
ô
�¾À»½
¾º¿	½
¾¿
ô
ù�ôð¼
õ¹Á¼
¿¼ð¼ººôÁø
ô¿÷
»¾À»�ø
½Áôïï¾ð�¼÷
ôÁ¼ô
�¾�¼
¿¼�½
½¹
½»¼Àôõ��¼
õ¾��
º½Á¼½ð»
¹ï
º¾÷¼öô��
ö»¼Á¼
¾
»ô�¼
½¹
ðôÁÁø
ô
ï�ôº»�¾À»½
½¹
º¼¼�
ó½
º¼¼õº
½¹
�¼
ô
õ¾ºôùùÁ¹ùÁ¾ô½¾¹¿
¹ï
ïí¿÷º
ö»¼¿
ø¹í
ôÁ¼ùí½½¾¿À
ô
ï�¹¹÷
�¾À»½
¾¿
ô
Á¼º¾÷¼¿½¾ô�
ôÁ¼
¾¿º½¼ô÷
¹ï
½»ô½
ð¹õõ¼Áð¾ô�
ôÁ¼ô
¹ï
ïí½íÁ¼
÷¼�¼�¹ùõ¼¿½�

Bellefonte Borough Council Packet February 3, 2025

Page 2 of 143



��������������	
�����
��������
�����������������������������������������������
������
����������������
������������������������������������������
����������
	� Bellefonte Borough Council Packet February 3, 2025

Page 3 of 143



 
 
 
 

 
 

Bellefonte Borough Council Business Meeting 
7:30 PM, Monday, February 3rd, 2025 

In-Person, Council Chambers/Large Meeting Room  
301 N. Spring St, 1st Floor 

 
      VIEW RECORDING OF WORK SESSIONS and BOROUGH COUNCIL MEETINGS       
       Recordings can be viewed on CNET, Comcast’s Government Education Channel 7, or at  
      www.cnet1.org ATTEND IN PERSON.  The meeting room is open with normal occupancy  
       limits.   

  
AGENDA 

I. 7:30 PM CALL MEETING TO ORDER 

II.      PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE  

III.  ROLL CALL 

Mr. Bernier, North Ward  Ms. Purnell, North Ward  
Mr. Brachbill, South Ward  Ms. Sedgwick, West   Ward  
Ms. Cleeton, South Ward  Ms. Tosti-Vasey, West Ward  
Ms. Dann, President, South Ward   Mr. Larson, Junior Council Member  
Mr. Johnson, Vice-President, North Ward   Ms. Meckley, Junior Council Member   
Ms. McKean, West Ward  Mayor Johnson, At Large  

IV. ADDITIONS TO THE COUNCIL MEETING AGENDA 
In accordance with Act 65 of 2021, If a matter is not on the Agenda, Council cannot take 
official action on it with some exceptions.  The Council can act on matters relating to potential 
or real emergencies.  Council may add a matter of agency business to its agenda through a 
majority vote.  The Council should state the reason why the action item is being added to the 
agenda.  Council may vote to add an action item(s) to the agenda. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Bellefonte Borough Council Packet February 3, 2025

Page 4 of 143

http://www.cnet1.org/


V. PUBLIC COMMENT (Oral)  
Borough Council intends to take public comment related to the motion that is on the floor after it 
has been duly made and seconded.  The order of comment will be public comment and then 
council comment including, proposed amendments by council members.  If amendments are 
proposed to the original motion, the public will then only comment on the amendment(s) before 
final votes are taken.  You must be a Bellefonte resident, non-profit representative, business 
owner, or an official representative of another governmental agency. Speakers shall identify 
themselves by name and street, municipality, if outside of the Borough of Bellefonte. Comments 
are limited to three (3) minutes. 

 
VI. COMMUNICATIONS (written) 

Centre County Recycling & Refuse Authority Municipal Newsletter January 2025. FYI, No council action is 
requested. 
Resident recommendation for Bellefonte Elementary School Property. FYI, No council action is requested. 
Thank you letter to Matt Auman, Superintendent of Public Works, from Bellefonte Quaker Cemetery. FYI, No council 
action is requested. 
PSAB Annual Conference June 1-4, 2025. FYI, No council action is requested. 

 
VII. CONSENT AGENDA 
All items listed on the Consent Agenda are considered routine and will be acted upon by a 
single motion. There will be no separate discussion of these items unless members of the 
Council request specific items to be removed for separate action.  

 
Finance Budget V. Actual December 2024 
Finance Budget V. Actual Summary December 2024 
General DRAFT Council Meeting Minutes January 21st, 2025 
Finance Treasurers Report December 2024 
Finance Voucher Summary December 2024 

 
Call for a motion/2nd to approve the Consent Agenda. 

 
VIII. REPORTS 

Please limit all reports/rebuttals/deliberations to three minutes maximum. 
DEPARTMENT OFFICIAL/ 

STAFF 
REPORT 

Mayor Mayor Johnson Verbal 
Jr. Council Member 
 January 2025 Report 

Mr. Larson Submitted 

OCA Memo: See memo for report and updates 
 Planning Commission will meet on February 10 at 5:00 p.m. 
 HARB will meet on February 11 at 8:30 a.m. 

Motion/2nd to consider removing the §575, Article XXI: Signs from the 
Borough Zoning to its own chapter within the Borough Code. (see Memo 
for rationale). If the motion is approved, council would need to hold a public 
hear and re-affirm the action prior to it taking effect, due to being a Zoning 
Ordinance Amendment.  

Ms. Thompson  Submitted  

  
 

Bellefonte Borough Council Packet February 3, 2025

Page 5 of 143



IX. CURRENT and OLD BUSINESS 
Lighting issue at Masullo Park. Council may take action to change the lighting at Masullo Park. 
Public Transit Task Force update. FYI, No council action is requested. 
Committees of Council. Committees and Chairs have been established by Council President Dann and sent out to council 
members.  In addition, two Ad-hoc committees have been formed – Fire Department and Ordinance Review/Employee.  
Handbook. FYI, No council action is requested.  
Work Sessions and Presentations to Council. The schedule of work sessions and the placement of presentations will be 
changing as council moves to sub-committees.  Presentations will likely be scheduled in the business meeting under oral 
communications.  FYI, No council action is requested.  
Council held an Executive Session on Legal Matters following the January 6th Council Meeting. FYI, No council action is 
requested. 

 
X. NEW BUSINESS 

Civil Service Commission Rules and Regulations Revisions.  The Civil Service Commission has approved the Revisions. 
Motion/2nd to approve Civil Service Commission Rules and Regulations Revisions. 
Approval of Ordinance No. 02032025-01 Amendments to Chapter 530:Vehicle and Traffic. Motion/2nd to approve 
Ordinance No. 01212025-01 Amendments to Chapter 530: Vehicle and Traffic. 
Approval of Resolution No. 02032025-01 Use of Force Policy. Motion/2nd to approve Resolution No. 01212025-01 Use of 
Force Policy. 
Shade Tree Commission Volunteer Application. Motion/2nd to appoint Jason Ostrokie to the Shade Tree Commission.  

 
XI.  PUBLIC COMMENT REGARDING ISSUES NOT ON THE AGENDA 
This Public Comment period is for oral comments regarding items not listed on this meeting 
agenda.  Speakers shall identify themselves by name and street, municipality, if outside of the 
Borough of Bellefonte. Comments are limited to three (3) minutes maximum. 

 
 
XII.    COUNCIL MEMBER COMMENTS/FOR THE GOOD OF THE ORDER 

Please try to limit all comments/rebuttals to three minutes maximum. 
 

XIII. ADJOURNMENT 
 The council meeting will be adjourned at or as close as possible to 9:00 PM. 
 
EXECUTIVE SESSION – Personnel Matters  
 
 
The Council Public Comment Policy and the 2025 List of Goals/action items will be included 
with each Agenda.  
 

 
 
 

 

Bellefonte Borough Council Packet February 3, 2025

Page 6 of 143



Centre County Recycling and Refuse Authority 

January 2025 | Municipal Newsletter 

Ted Onufrak - Executive Director 

 

WELCOME TO 2025 

As we start the new year, let us know what you’d like us to “Resolve” to do differently.  We always welcome 
suggestions and/or improvements to the services we provide to all county residents.  And if you have a question 
- whether it’s about trash, recycling or disposing of unique and sometimes hazardous materials, email us and 
we’ll get an answer back to you.  If your question happens to be an interesting one, we may even feature it in a 
future newsletter. 

AUTHORITY SERVICES 

● To see a complete list of services we provide and information on how or where to recycle, check out our 
website at CentreCountyRecycles.org. 

● Our rates will remain the same for 2025 for the majority of our services. Your monthly rate is set by your 
hauler and may change at their discretion. 

● Curbside Recycling is available in Marion Township, Walker Township, Howard Township, and Howard 
Borough for $9 per month.  Interested residents should contact CCRRA at (814) 238-7005. 

● For 2024, the transfer station crew processed over 111,298 tons of refuse and the recycling crew 
processed more than 10,463 tons of inbound recycled material. 

● Illegal dumping continues to be an issue throughout our county. For 2024, our Ordinance Enforcement 
Officers collected more than 61,917 lbs of illegally dumped material (trash, recycling, and scrap metal) 
and 605 illegally dumped tires. 

● Have a community event coming up?  Questions about 
changing or adopting an ordinance to require garbage or 
recycling collection?  CCRRA staff are available to attend 
your meetings and events, at your request. 

● CCRRA offers Clearstream Recycling Containers for 
Special Event Recycling.  Look for our recycling options at 
events such as ArtsFest, People’s Choice Festival, 
Philipsburg Heritage Days, The Antique Machinery Shows, 
the Grange Fair and many more! 

For this free service contact our Commercial Recycling 
Coordinator Ed Hicks by email ehicks@centrecountyrecycles.org or phone (814) 238-7005. 

● Want a tour of our CCRRA facility?  To request a tour for your group, just give us a call and ask for Amy! 
Centre County Recycling and Refuse Authority Quarterly Municipality Report - January 

Bellefonte Borough Council Packet February 3, 2025

Page 7 of 143

mailto:ehicks@centrecountyrecycles.org


● CCRRA produces and mails a quarterly newsletter to all municipal offices.  If you are not currently on 
our newsletter mailing list, please let us know and we would be happy to add you.  It is also  delivered to 
subscribers through the Centre Daily Times, Centre County Gazette, and the Philipsburg Journal. 

● Check out our new Recycling App - RecycleCoach!  A FREE download from the 
App Store.  A great tool at your fingertips to help you decide if an item is 
recyclable.  Just scan the QR Code below with your camera app! 

● CCRRA offers waste audits and educational materials for businesses and 
institutions to assist in your recycling efforts.  Contact our Commercial Recycling 
Coordinator Ed Hicks for details. Email ehicks@centrecountyrecycles.org or 
phone (814) 238-7005. 

GRANT FUNDING UPDATES 

The third solicitation of the Food Recovery Infrastructure Grant (FRIG) is OPEN. The deadline for this solicitation 
of FRIG applications is February 28, 2025 by 11:59pm. 

Who is eligible: 
● Registered section 501(c)(3) not-for-profit agencies operating programs within the 

Commonwealth that provide food to the public (i.e. food shelters, soup kitchens, food banks, etc.)  

What equipment is eligible: 
● Equipment to store, transport, or prepare the recovered fresh, wholesome foods, such as 

refrigerators, freezers, refrigerant and non-refrigerant vehicles, cargo vans, pallet jacks, dollies, 
hand trucks, forklifts, stoves, ovens, and microwaves. Installation and shipping costs for the 
eligible equipment will also be eligible for support. 

When is the deadline: 
● February 28, 2025 by 11:59pm 

How much is available per applicant (aka maximum award): 
● $50,000 maximum award per applicant 

A pre-application meeting is mandatory for this grant. Contact Mimi Cooper at 814-238-7005 or 
mcooper@centrecountyrecyles.org for more information 

 

ANNUAL REPORTS  

Annual Recycling Reports | Section 304 (f) of Pennsylvania Act 101 of 1988 requires each municipality to submit 
a report summarizing recycling efforts to the County; the report is intended to reflect totals for all recyclables 
collected and diverted from the waste stream in 2024.  

The Authority compiles total quantities of each material collected at our facility and distributes Annual Recycling 
Reports to each municipality. We ask that you please take the time to insert these figures in the appropriate 
spaces of the Municipal Recycling Report, and then add any other recycling figures from your municipality during 
2024. (leaves, yard waste, motor oil, Christmas trees etc.)  

Return the form to CCRRA by Friday, February 21, 2025. 

Centre County Recycling and Refuse Authority Quarterly Municipality Report - January 

Bellefonte Borough Council Packet February 3, 2025

Page 8 of 143

mailto:ehicks@centrecountyrecycles.org
mailto:mcooper@centrecountyrecyles.org


1

Ralph Stewart

From: joann4sold@aol.com
Sent: Friday, January 24, 2025 5:21 PM
To: Ralph Stewart
Subject: Elementary school

Ralph, I’d like to see Bellefonte Boro acquire the elementary school so as to own the stage and auditorium to replace the 
loss of the Garman.  
 
There’s room to make public parking and the rest of the building could be turned in to any number of places 
 
What can I do???? 
 
JoAnn Knupp 
Text 814 222 1414 
 

Sent from the all new AOL app for iOS 

Bellefonte Borough Council Packet February 3, 2025

Page 9 of 143



Bellefonte Borough Council Packet February 3, 2025

Page 10 of 143



Hometown
H O N O R I N G  O U R

PENNSYLV
A

N
IA

 S
TATE  ASSOCIATIO

N
 O

F B
O

RO
UGHS

June 1–4, 2025 • Hershey Lodge

&  E X H I B I T I O N

2025 
ANNUAL CONFERENCE 

Bellefonte Borough Council Packet February 3, 2025

Page 11 of 143



2  Pennsylvania State Association of Boroughs

Invitation from the President
I hope you can join us, June 1-4, 2025, for PSAB’s 113th Annual Conference being 
held at the Hershey Lodge. This event will give you an opportunity to attend 
a variety of outstanding sessions, meet vendors who can provide products 
and services to your borough, and hear directly from State legislative leaders 
and agencies, as well as network with other borough officials from across 
the Commonwealth. The theme for the Annual Conference is “Honoring Our 
Hometown Heroes.”  This will be a wonderful opportunity to not only learn new 
things that can improve your borough, but also honor our veterans who have 
served both their country and their communities.
 
The conference agenda is filled with an array of speakers and informative 
sessions. Topics include: Anatomy of an Arbitration, Trends in Zoning, The Latest 
Development in the Right-to-Know Law, State Agency Panel, Legislative Update, 
various roundtables plus more.
 
Another reason to attend is the Legislative Breakfast. This event gives you the 
opportunity to invite your state legislators to attend the conference and have 
breakfast with them and other legislators from around the Commonwealth. 
During this conference, I encourage you to attend the Exhibitor Marketplace 
and explore the solutions they can offer to your borough. The PSAB Annual 
Conference is an incredible event to attend and gives you a chance to learn 
about many things affecting your borough and find solutions to common 
problems. 

I hope to see you in Hershey!

Sincerely, 

Tom Weikel 
PSAB President 
Royersford Borough 
Montgomery County

PENNSYLV
A

N
IA

 S
TATE  ASSOCIATIO

N
 O

F B
O

RO
UGHS

Register for the PA State Association 
of Boroughs 113th Annual Conference

Bellefonte Borough Council Packet February 3, 2025

Page 12 of 143



Registration
There are two ways to register for the PSAB Annual 
Conference. The first is to complete and mail the 
enclosed form to PSAB with a check payable to PSAB. 
See page 17 for more details.

The second is to register online at  
www.myaccount.boroughs.org under the 
“Conferences” tab. Please make sure you designate 
those officials who will be attending the conference 
for the first time. 

If you can’t attend the entire conference, one day 
registration is available. The fee is $100 for any 
single day. To register, use Package B, C, or D on the 
enclosed registration form.

Cancellation Policy for Delegates and Spouses

Cancellation requests must be made in writing 
and can be emailed to mmiller@boroughs.org. Full 
registration fee will be refunded if the cancellation 
notice is received no later than May 1, 2025. No 
refunds will be given after May 2, 2025; however, 
substitutions are permitted.

Hotel Information
The room rate for the Hershey Lodge is $239, plus 
11% occupancy tax (single or double), per room, per 
night. To make your hotel room reservations, visit 
www.hotelreservations.boroughs.org to pay with 
a credit card or call 855-729-3108. The deadline is 
April 24. See page 11 for more details.

If you have any questions, contact Mary Weller, (Ext. 1026) at mweller@boroughs.org  
or Suzi Kent (Ext. 1030) at skent@boroughs.org. PSAB’s phone number is 717-236-9526.

?

Family/Guest Activities
Hershey, the sweetest place on Earth!
You’ll never run out of things to do in Hershey. For things 
to do in and around Hershey, visit www.hersheypa.com.  
The 2025 Spouse Committee has organized an excellent 
program for your enjoyment. See page 13 for details.

Special Conference Notes
Voting Delegates
The Voting Delegate form is on the back of the PSAB 
Registration form. Each registered borough at the 
conference can have one voting delegate. To ensure 
eligibility, Voting Delegate forms must be returned 
to PSAB by May 14. See page 18 for details.

Conference Expenses
Section 701 of the Borough Code provides 
reimbursement for mileage, registration fees, and 
all other actual expenses for the Conference which 
Council agrees to pay.

Certified Borough Official (CBO) Credits
Attendees working toward their Certified 
Borough Official (CBO) designation can 
earn 12 credits at this conference. Attendance & 
registration to the full conference is required.

Key Deadlines
February 14
Award Nominations  
Due to PSAB 

April 2
Resolutions Due to PSAB

April 24
Hotel Reservations Deadline 

April 24
Early Bird Registration

May 14
Voting Delegate  
Forms Due to PSAB

Conference Registration

  3 113th Annual Conference & Exhibition     

Bellefonte Borough Council Packet February 3, 2025

Page 13 of 143



So are we.

Thinking 
about your 
pension 
plan?

For more information, please contact us:
2941 North Front Street, Harrisburg, PA 17110      www.mrtpensions.org 

Amanda Potts, Director of MRT Operations   apotts@boroughs.org  | 717-236-9526, Ext. 1012

Joseph A. Scott Jr., MRT Client Services Director  | 717-236-9526, Ext. 1046  | Cell: 717-798-0540

Now, more than ever, we’re here to help 
you manage your pension plan needs.
The Municipal Retirement Trust (MRT) offers compliance and 
regulatory guidance, proven investment performance over time, 
affordable fee structures, and support services. Most importantly, 
you’ll receive the same exceptional customer service we provide 
to all MRT clients!

That’s why more than 170 communities in PA trust the MRT  
to be their pension provider.

We’re here when you need us most.

Bellefonte Borough Council Packet February 3, 2025

Page 14 of 143



  5 113th Annual Conference & Exhibition     

T E N T A T I V E  P R O G R A M

Sunday, June 1
10:30 A.M. – 7:00 P.M.
Registration (Delegates and Spouses)

11:00 A.M. – 3:00 P.M.
Municipal Officials Mini Boot Camp  
(Includes Lunch) 
Attendees must be pre-registered for this class. Please 
register on the conference registration form.

2:00 – 7:00 P.M.
Grand Opening of the Exhibitor Marketplace 
(Dinner Served from 5 – 6:30 PM for PSAB Pkgs A, B, & E) 
Please take time to visit the exhibits to learn about services 
and products available to your borough. Exhibitors help 
defray the cost of the conference for attendees.

3:00 – 4:30 P.M.
Resolutions and Policy Committee  
(Committee Members Only)

7:15 P.M.
O P E N I N G  G E N E R A L  S E S S I O N
Presiding: Thomas Weikel, Royersford, President 
Presentation of the Colors 
National Anthem: Mayor Chuck Mummert, Elizabethtown 

KEYNOTE ADDRESS 
Lessons in Leadership
Carey Lohrenz, First 
Female F-14 Tomcat 
Fighter Pilot in the 
U.S. Navy, shares the 
fundamentals that helped 
her win in the cockpit at 
Mach 2. Be a Catalyst - make 
change happen by focusing 
on what matters most. 
Be Tenacious - overcome 
your fear of failure. Be Committed to Excellence - 
prepare, perform, and prevail over accomplishing 
seemingly impossible missions every day. Be Resilient 
- turn adversity into success. In this motivating and 
engaging presentation, Carey will share her fascinating 
experiences operating in one of the world’s most 
challenging environments – an aircraft carrier.

Thomas Weikel
Royersford
President

Tami Halstead 
Newport
2nd Vice President

Randy L. Riddle 
Grove City
1st Vice President

Stretch Reed 
Emporium
Immediate Past President

Chris Cap
Secretary/Treasurer

Conference Program

N E T W O R K I N G

Bellefonte Borough Council Packet February 3, 2025

Page 15 of 143



6  Pennsylvania State Association of Boroughs

Monday, June 2
7:00 – 8:15 A.M.
Full Breakfast with the Exhibitors/Legislators  
(all attendees invited)
Breakfast with your Legislator
Please join the PSAB Government Affairs Department 
for our Legislative Breakfast. This Breakfast will serve as 
an appetizer to the Legislative Panel and an opportunity 
to discuss public policy issues that directly affect your 
boroughs with legislators and staffers from Capitol Hill. 
Please be sure to invite your Legislators to the event.

7:00 A.M. – 4:00 P.M.
Registration (Delegates and Spouses)

7:00 A.M. – 2:00 P.M.
Visit the Exhibitor Marketplace
Please take time to visit the exhibits to learn about services 
and products available to your borough. Exhibitors help 
defray the cost of the conference for attendees.

8:30 – 11:00 A.M.
G E N E R A L  S E S S I O N S
Presiding: Randy L. Riddle, Grove City, 1st Vice President

8:30 – 9:45 A.M.
Legislative Panel 
During this session, a panel of state lawmakers from 
both the House and Senate will provide an update on 
bills affecting borough communities. Attendees will 
have an opportunity to ask questions.

9:45 – 10:00 A.M
Break

10:00 – 11 A.M.
Tips for an Effective Public Meeting
Rebecca Geiser, Esq. and Kailie Melchior, Esq., both 
from Kilkenny Law, will provide valuable insights on 
managing open government meetings in compliance 
with the Sunshine Act as well as avoiding other common 
problems that boroughs experience during meetings. 
This session will cover the best practices for handling 
public comments, conducting executive sessions, and 
ensuring a fair and orderly hearing process. Attendees 
will gain practical strategies for fostering transparency, 
engagement, and professionalism in public meetings.

11:00 – 11:30 A.M.
Business Meeting 
Association Business 
Meet the 2nd Vice President Candidate(s)

11:45 A.M. – 1:00 P.M.
Visit the Exhibitor Marketplace/Exhibit Hall  
Luncheon (included in PSAB Pkgs. A, C, & E)

1:30 – 2:30 P.M.
C O N C U R R E N T  S E S S I O N S
Cybersecurity for Municipal Leaders: Five 
Things You Need to Know in 2025
Matt Dotts, Information Security Awareness Officer, 
Mid Penn Bank, will empower you to make informed 
cybersecurity investments and implement policies 
that safeguard your municipality. In an era where 
municipalities are prime targets for cyberattacks, staying 
ahead of the threat curve is not just an IT issue - it’s a 
leadership imperative. 

From this high-impact session, designed specifically 
for government leaders, you will discover the critical 
motives driving cyber attackers to target municipalities 
and how these threats impact your operations, data, 
and community trust. Learn why your email system is 
your weakest link—and what you can do to secure it. 
Gain insights into the latest attack methods, including 
sophisticated social engineering tactics aimed at 
municipal employees.

Benefiting from a Multi-Generational Workforce 
For the first time in history, there are four generations in 
the workplace. Each generation is shaped by its unique 
experiences growing up and its members’ diverse ideas 
about what they want in their work and personal lives. 
These differences affect how they interact with each 
other and judge each other’s behavior and performance. 
Monica Gould, President, Strategic Consulting Partners, 
will examine the different generations, their needs, and 
strategies to understand them. This session will also 
explore what motivates each generation and the best 
way to engage and communicate with them. 

Continued
Conference Program Bellefonte Borough Council Packet February 3, 2025

Page 16 of 143



  7 113th Annual Conference & Exhibition     

Schedule continued on page 8

Building Resilient Communities:  
Your Critical Role as a Local Leader
Lawrence West, Deputy for Recovery, and Molly 
Dougherty, Director for External Affairs, both from 
PA Emergency Management Agency, will explain 
how locally elected borough leaders in Pennsylvania, 
regardless of the size of the community, play a vital 
role in shaping the resilience of their communities. 
This session will examine why decisions related to 
planning, zoning, and ordinances are critical to helping 
communities withstand and recover from crises. 

Resilience involves far more than responding to 
emergencies—it’s about creating a strong foundation 
that reduces vulnerabilities and ensures communities 
are better positioned to adapt to evolving challenges. 
Participants will gain a clear understanding of how their 
leadership can drive proactive planning and improve 
long-term outcomes for their boroughs.

Trends in Zoning 
Join municipal land use attorneys, Michael Crotty, Esq. 
and Eric Brown, Esq., both from Siana Law, for an update 
on the recent trends in zoning and land use.  From 
affordable housing to anaerobic digesters, the uses we 
throw at boroughs is ever-changing. Learn about recent 
trends, new caselaw and legislative updates that regulate 
how we zone and how we maintain control on the 
character of our communities. 

2:45 – 4:45 P.M.
Legal Update – Jeopardy Style
Join Attorneys from the Law Firm of Salzmann Hughes in 
this interactive, gameshow themed presentation which 
will encourage audience participation while reviewing 
different categories of municipal law.

Dinner and Evening on Your Own

7:00 – 9:00 P.M.
Presidential Reception plus a Cigar Social (optional)

  7 113th Annual Conference & Exhibition     

Bellefonte Borough Council Packet February 3, 2025

Page 17 of 143



8  Pennsylvania State Association of Boroughs

Tuesday, June 3
7:00 – 7:45 A.M.
Continental Breakfast

7:30 A.M. – 3:00 P.M.
Registration (Delegates and Spouses)

8:00 – 9:15 A.M.
G E N E R A L  S E S S I O N
Presiding: Tami Halstead, Newport, 2nd Vice President 

State Agency Panel 
Join state agency representatives for updates on 
programs important to your borough.

9:30 – 10:30 A.M.
C O N C U R R E N T  S E S S I O N S
Anatomy of an Arbitration
Arbitration—sounds scary, it’s not.  Michael McAuliffe 
Miller and a team from long-time PSAB partner, Eckert 
Seamans, will walk participants through a contested 
arbitration, step-by-step using their combined expertise 
to demonstrate: 1) what evidence you need to gather 
and why; 2) what strategies work and what doesn’t; and 
3) what arbitrators look for in case presentations. 

The team will take you through opening statements, 
direct and cross examination, use of evidence, closing 
arguments and post-closing obligations. The goal is for 
observers to understand the hidden secrets of good 
arbitration preparation, presentation, and strategy so 
that your evaluation of whether to arbitrate a case is 
more precise. This session will be a well-organized, 
directed, and efficient presentation of everything 
a layperson needs to know about building a better 
arbitration presentation.

Fostering a Successful Relationship with PennDOT
Chris Metka, Transportation Planning Manager; Jim 
Lesher, District 8 Municipal Services Representatives 
Supervisor; and Kyle Snyder, District 8 District Planner, 
all from PennDOT, will discuss the different services 
PennDOT can provide to your borough. From grant 
opportunities to bridge inspections and agility 
agreements, PennDOT offers a variety of partnership 
opportunities to boroughs across the Commonwealth. 
This panel will provide best practices for how to take 
advantage of the services that PennDOT offers. 

Office of the State Fire Commissioner (OSFC): 
Burning Questions?  Our Answers!
Panel: Tom Cook, PA State Fire Commissioner and OSFC 
Program Leaders  
Get your questions answered on Recruitment and 
Retention, Community Risk Reduction, Grants & Loans 
and the PA State Fire Academy.

The Latest Developments in the Right-to-Know Law
Executive Director Liz Wagenseller of the Office of 
Open Records will share updates about Right-to-Know 
Law requests including the new standard request 
form, anonymous and bulk requesters, and the use of 
generative AI.

10:45 – 11:30 A.M.
C O N C U R R E N T  S E S S I O N S
Borough Councils Association  
Membership and Business Meeting 
Presiding: Paul Hamill, Greenville, President

Mayor’s Association Membership  
Roundtable and Business Meeting
Presiding: Chuck Mummert, Elizabethtown, President

Manager/Administrator Roundtable

11:45 A.M. – 1:45 P.M.
Awards Luncheon (Included in PSAB Pkgs. A, D, & E)
Presiding: Thomas Weikel, Royersford, President

8  Pennsylvania State Association of Boroughs

Continued
Conference Program Bellefonte Borough Council Packet February 3, 2025

Page 18 of 143



  9 113th Annual Conference & Exhibition     

2:00 – 3:00 P.M.
C O N C U R R E N T  S E S S I O N S
Strategic Code Enforcement –  
Gaining Compliance Requires a Team
Sara Hailstone, President and Shannon Calluori,  
Vice President, both from Hailstone Economic, will 
review the tools your team must have in place for 
when a property owner fails to address the violations 
identified in your initial request for compliance. We will 
discuss when and why to engage legal counsel and 
the role of elected officials, municipal leadership, and 
staff. Successful code enforcement outcomes involve 
a network of policies and people with the time and 
resources to impact the toughest problem properties.

AI 101 for Local Government
Utilization of artificial intelligence (AI) is trending in 
almost every industry nationwide. A Representative from 
Appalachia Technologies will review the basics of AI, 
outlining what exactly the technology is, what it can do, 
potential use-cases in a local government context, and 
some of the concerns or challenges associated with AI 
deployment.

Police Panel Session
Join us for a panel discussion on current issues and 
emerging best practices in municipal policing.

Preparing and Reviewing Municipal Contracts 
Beth J. Kern, Esq. from CGA Law, will review the 
best practices for municipal contracts, bidding and 
procurement. Whether you’re preparing an RFP for 
professional services or specs for a contract that will be 
open to public bid, municipal leaders are required to act 
as good stewards of public resources. This interactive 
session will highlight the best practices for each stage 
of the process, including preparation and review of 
municipal contracts.

3:15 – 4:15 P.M.
C O N C U R R E N T  S E S S I O N S  
B Y  P O P U L A T I O N
Open Discussion of Current Topics
Population Under 1,000
Population 1,001 – 4,000
Population Over 4,000

6:00 – 6:45 P.M.
Reception (Cash Bar)

7:00 P.M.
ANNUAL BANQUET (Included in PSAB Pkgs. A & E)
Presiding: Thomas Weikel, Royersford, President 
Installation of Officers 
Entertainment: The Uptown Band

Wednesday, June 4
7:15 – 8:15 A.M.
Full Buffet Breakfast

8:15 – 9:15 A.M.
G E N E R A L  S E S S I O N 
Presiding: Stretch Reed, Emporium, Immediate Past 
President

Legislative Update
Join Ron Grutza, Senior Director of Government Affairs 
and Logan Stover, Director of Policy & Legislative Affairs, 
as they review PSAB’s legislative agenda and provide 
important updates on legislation which will have an 
impact on your borough.

9:15 – 10:15 A.M.
Closing Association Business Meeting
Presiding: Thomas Weikel, Royersford, President  
• Consideration of Resolutions 
• Association Business 
• Passing of the Gavel

  9 113th Annual Conference & Exhibition     

Bellefonte Borough Council Packet February 3, 2025

Page 19 of 143



Pennsylvania State Association of Boroughs (PSAB)
Members have long relied on the trusted advisory
services of APPI Energy for smarter ways to buy
energy. Now that APPI Energy is part of Environ
Energy, you have access to even more benefits that
include energy efficiency and sustainability programs.

Ask Us How We Can Help You...

Advance your sustainability and efficiency targets.

Enhance your facility's energy efficiency 

       and resiliency.  

Get started with ESG Foundations, a guided

journey to sustainability. 

Learn smarter ways to buy, manage, 

       and save energy.

OUR SERVICES INCLUDE:

Energy Procurement:
Electricity, Natural Gas and
Green Power

ESG Reporting

Carbon Accounting

Green House Gas
Inventories and Reduction
Strategies

Efficiency Upgrades and
More

Accelerate Your 
Sustainable Energy

Transformation

Let’s Connect!
PSAB@EnvironEnergy.com Endorsed

Bellefonte Borough Council Packet February 3, 2025

Page 20 of 143



Hershey Lodge 
The room rate for the Hershey Lodge is $239, plus 11% 
occupancy tax (single or double), per room, per night. 

To make your hotel room reservations online, visit  
www.hotelreservations.boroughs.org to pay with a credit 
card. Note - A $5 deposit per room will be charged to your 
credit card and credited to your stay. Or, you can call the 
Hershey Lodge at 855-729-3108 and ask for the PSAB rate. 

Phone reservations can be guaranteed with a credit card 
or followed up with a one night deposit by check in the 
amount of $265.29. If following up with a check, please be 
sure to include the room confirmation number(s). 

Hotel Reservations

Contact
If you have any issues when making a reservation at the Hershey Lodge, contact Mary Weller at 717-236-9526  
(Ext. 1026), mweller@boroughs.org, or Suzi Kent (Ext. 1030), skent@boroughs.org, immediately. 

The address for the Hershey Lodge is 325 University Drive, Hershey, PA 17033. 

BOOK EARLY!
The housing deadline is  
April 24 or until sold out.
(Please be sure to book early  
as the hotel sold out in 2024.)

Things to Do In and Around Hershey!
Family and guests will find plenty to do! Plan your trip!

• Antique Automobile Club of America Museum
• Hershey Gardens
• Hershey Outlets
• ZooAmerica
• Hersheypark
• Hershey’s Chocolate World
• The Hershey Story Museum
• Founder’s Hall at the Milton Hershey School
• Troeg’s Brewing Company
• Indian Echo Caverns (Hummelstown)
• Hollywood Casino at Penn National Race Course (Grantville)
• State Museum of Pennsylvania (Harrisburg)
• State Capitol Tours (Harrisburg)
• National Civil War Museum (Harrisburg)
• Whitaker Center for Science and the Arts (Harrisburg)
• State Police Museum
• Escape Room Hershey 

Pennsylvania State Association of Boroughs (PSAB)
Members have long relied on the trusted advisory
services of APPI Energy for smarter ways to buy
energy. Now that APPI Energy is part of Environ
Energy, you have access to even more benefits that
include energy efficiency and sustainability programs.

Ask Us How We Can Help You...

Advance your sustainability and efficiency targets.

Enhance your facility's energy efficiency 

       and resiliency.  

Get started with ESG Foundations, a guided

journey to sustainability. 

Learn smarter ways to buy, manage, 

       and save energy.

OUR SERVICES INCLUDE:

Energy Procurement:
Electricity, Natural Gas and
Green Power

ESG Reporting

Carbon Accounting

Green House Gas
Inventories and Reduction
Strategies

Efficiency Upgrades and
More

Accelerate Your 
Sustainable Energy

Transformation

Let’s Connect!
PSAB@EnvironEnergy.com Endorsed

  11 113th Annual Conference & Exhibition     

Bellefonte Borough Council Packet February 3, 2025

Page 21 of 143



12  Pennsylvania State Association of Boroughs

Sunday, June 1 • 11:00 a.m. to 3:00 p.m.
Both elected and appointed officials are invited to participate. 

Learn about new challenges, laws, and regulations that can impact your community. 
Bring your questions and plan to share your experiences with other appointed and 
elected officials.

By attending this session, you can receive 4 Certified Borough Official (CBO) credits 
towards the Part B/RBS requirement.

Registration Information 
FREE for Conference Attendees / $50 for Non-Conference Attendees
Lunch will be provided.

If you are attending the conference, please register for this session on the regular conference 
registration form on page 13. If you are not attending the conference, please contact Dani 
Baker-Papinchak at dbaker@boroughs.org to register. The deadline for registration for this 
session is May 16. 

• Roles of Council and Mayor
• Right-to-Know Law
• Borough Code Review

• Municipal Budgeting
• Ethics
• Executive Sessions

bootboot
ccamp
ampElected

Official  Min i

Bellefonte Borough Council Packet February 3, 2025

Page 22 of 143



• Municipal Budgeting
• Ethics
• Executive Sessions

Monday, June 2
9:00 A.M. - 11:30 A.M. 

NEW ACTIVITY! 
Design Transfers Class
Join us for this creative Design Transfer Class! 
Attendees will design their own artwork from  
a selection of stencils for all interests.

Tuesday, June 3
9:00 A.M. - 11:00 A.M.

Chocolate Bingo
Come and join the fun and fellowship while 
playing the classic game of Bingo – but with a 
sweet twist! Winners will receive chocolate prizes!

Family/Guest Activities 

FAMILY/GUEST ACTIVITIES FORM
Please make your choices below and return this form with payment by May 16 to:  
PSAB, 2941 North Front Street, Harrisburg, PA 17110.

_______  Design Transfers Class  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $15.00 each
_______  Bingo. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $5.00 each

 Total Enclosed . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ _______

Name __________________________________________ Borough_____________________________

Email __________________________________________ Daytime Phone ________________________

Bellefonte Borough Council Packet February 3, 2025

Page 23 of 143



At the Pennsylvania State Association of Boroughs’ (PSAB) Annual Conference each year,  
delegates vote on resolutions that will shape the legislative agenda. 

Deadline to submit resolutions is April 2, 2025.

Legislation affects 
our boroughs.

Government regulations 
resulting from legislation 
can have a significant 
impact on your borough. 
That’s why it’s critical to be 
involved in the legislative 
process.

1 2 3 4
PSAB can impact 

legislation.
Thanks to your past efforts, 
PSAB has helped to enact a 
modernized Borough Code;  
achieved success with 
prevailing wage rates on 
road and bridge projects; 
and sought relief from 
unfunded mandates.

You can help.
Your borough or County 
Borough Association (CBA) 
can submit resolutions to 
PSAB to be debated and 
voted on during the Annual 
Conference, June 1-4, 
2025 at Hershey Lodge. 
Resolutions should call for 
change and can indicate 
support for or opposition 
to a specific idea or 
legislative measure.

Here’s how.
Submit resolutions to  
Ron Grutza at  
rgrutza@boroughs.org; or 
mail to PSAB, Attention: 
Resolutions, 2941 N. Front 
Street, Harrisburg, PA 17110. 

For more information on 
the PSAB Resolutions 
Process, visit  
www.boroughs.org/
legislative. 

PENNSYLV
A

N
IA

 S
TATE  ASSOCIATIO

N
 O

F B
O

RO
UGHS

Make Your Voice Heard
in the PSAB Resolutions Process

Bellefonte Borough Council Packet February 3, 2025

Page 24 of 143



Please join the PSAB Government Affairs Department for our annual legislative 
breakfast. This breakfast serves as the appetizer to the Legislative Panel and gives 
attendees an opportunity to discuss public policy issues that directly affect your 
boroughs with legislators and staffers from Capitol Hill.

Monday, June 2 • 7:15-8:15 a.m.

Please be sure to invite your legislator to the event.

PENNSYLV
A

N
IA

 S
TATE  ASSOCIATIO

N
 O

F B
O

RO
UGHS

Bellefonte Borough Council Packet February 3, 2025

Page 25 of 143



Hometown
S E N D  U S  YO U R

PSAB would like to honor your Borough’s hometown  
heroes at our upcoming 2025 Annual Conference.  
Please send us a copy of your flags so we can proudly  
digitally display them throughout the conference.
For instructions on how to upload your photos, visit www.boroughs.org/heroes.
For more information contact Rick Habacivch at rhabacivch@boroughs.org or call 800-232-7722, ext. 1049

A Hometown Heroes submission by the Borough constitutes consent to use by PSAB of the flags, likenesses and images and 
acknowledgement that the Borough has legally acquired all rights thereto. When you send us your pictures, please be sure that you 
have all legally required rights to use them and confirm that you consent to PSAB using them.

PENNSYLV
A

N
IA

 S
TATE  ASSOCIATIO

N
 O

F B
O

RO
UGHS

Deadline for submitting photo(s) is May 1, 2025.

Bellefonte Borough Council Packet February 3, 2025

Page 26 of 143



Borough: ____________________________________________  

County: _____________________________________________

Contact Person: ________________________________________  

Phone: ________________________________________________  

Email: ________________________________________________

Delegate Name
(As you want it to appear on badge)

1st Time 
Attendee

Package 
Letter Title Family/Guest

(Full Name)
Package 

Letter
Boot

Camp

1.

2.

3.

4.

Registration Form

113th Annual Conference
June 1-4, 2025

         Special Requirements (Please list name): _____________________________________________________

          By April 24     After April 24

__   $250         $300 Package A – FULL PACKAGE 
    Includes: All Sessions, Exhibits, Sunday Dinner/Reception, Monday & Tuesday 
    Lunch, Tuesday Banquet, Breaks, Gift, and Conference Materials  $ __________

__    $100 $125  Package B – SUNDAY ONLY 
    Includes: Exhibits, Sunday Dinner/Reception, Keynote Address, and Gift $ __________

__    $100 $125  Package C – MONDAY ONLY 
    Includes: Monday’s Sessions, Exhibits, Lunch, Breaks, Gift, and Conference Materials $ __________

__    $100 $125  Package D – TUESDAY ONLY
    Includes: Tuesday’s Sessions, Exhibits, Lunch, Breaks, Gift, and Conference Materials 
   Note – Package does not include the Banquet.    $ __________

__    $190 $190  Package E – FAMILY/GUEST PACKAGE 
    Includes: All Sessions, Exhibits, Sunday Dinner/Reception, Monday & Tuesday 
    Lunch, Tuesday Banquet, Breaks, and Gift (See page 13 for activities.)  $ __________

__    $25 $25  Extra Awards Luncheon Ticket(s) (Tuesday, June 3)   $ __________

__    $60 $60  Extra Banquet Ticket(s) (Tuesday, June 3)    $ __________

__    Free Free  Mini Boot Camp (Sunday, June 1 - see page 12.)   $ __________ 
    (If registered for PSAB Conference.) 

   

          Total Payment  $ __________          

TO REGISTER:
ONLINE: Go to  
www.myaccount.boroughs.org 
(Conferences Tab)

BY CHECK: Complete and return 
this form with payment to:  
PSAB, 2941 North Front Street, 
Harrisburg, PA 17110

Hershey Lodge Reservations – Deadline is April 24, 2025 or until Sold Out. See Page 11 for details.

  17 113th Annual Conference & Exhibition     

Don’t forget to complete the Voting Delegate form  
on the back of this page by May 14! 

Bellefonte Borough Council Packet February 3, 2025

Page 27 of 143



Voting Delegates

Deadline: May 14, 2025
Each member borough in good standing with the Association shall appoint a Voting Delegate for the 
purpose of electing the Officers of the Association and voting on proposed resolutions and policies.

Borough council must approve the individual appointed to serve as the Voting Delegate as well as 
an Alternate Delegate (in case the primary appointment cannot participate in the election and voting 
during the annual conference). Note - Voting Delegates/Alternates can be elected or appointed borough 
officials. Per the PSAB Constitution, these names must be provided to the PSAB Executive Director by 
May 14, 2025.

The election of Officers will be held Tuesday, June 3 between 9 a.m. and 2 p.m. Voting on proposed 
resolutions and policies will occur during the Closing Business Meeting on Wednesday, June 4. These 
two activities help to shape the leadership and policy platform of the Association. Participation in this 
process is an essential role that borough officials play in guiding the future of PSAB.

ALL VOTING DELEGATES MUST BE REGISTERED TO ATTEND THE ANNUAL CONFERENCE.

Borough of: _________________________________________________________

Submitted by: _________________________________________________________
   (Signature of the Borough Secretary, Manager, or President of Council)

Date:  _________________________________________________________

Borough Address: _________________________________________________________

Borough Email:  _________________________________________________________

OUR VOTING DELEGATE WILL BE: ____________________________________________________
   (Name)    (Title)

OUR ALTERNATE WILL BE: ____________________________________________________   
       (If Applicable)   (Name)    (Title)

The Voting Delegate form must be returned  
no later than Wednesday, May 14, 2025. You can 
return this form in any of the following 3 ways -

Mail:  PSAB, 2941 North Front Street 
Harrisburg, PA 17110

Fax: 717-236-8164

Email: mmiller@boroughs.org

18  Pennsylvania State Association of Boroughs

Bellefonte Borough Council Packet February 3, 2025

Page 28 of 143



All are welcome to join us for our Annual Golf Outing in June!  
The outing is a great way to kickstart your Annual Conference experience.

PSAB Golf Outing  |  Sunday, June 1, 2025 at 8 A.M.  (Fee - $80 per person)

Borough/Company: _________________________________________________________________________

Name: ___________________________________  Cell Phone  _______________    0-15 15-25   25+

Name: ___________________________________  Cell Phone  _______________    0-15 15-25   25+

Name: ___________________________________  Cell Phone  _______________    0-15 15-25   25+

Name: ___________________________________  Cell Phone  _______________    0-15 15-25   25+

Total Amount Enclosed: $_______________

(if rain delay)

(if rain delay)

(if rain delay)

(if rain delay)

Handicap (circle one)

G O L F  O U T I N G 
P S A B  A N N U A L

SUNDAY, JUNE 1

DAUPHIN HIGHLANDS GOLF COURSE
650 S HARRISBURG ST,  HARRISBURG, PA 17113

8:00 A.M. SHOTGUN START / BEST BALL PLAY / ALL LEVELS OF GOLFERS WELCOME

$80 PER PERSON FEE INCLUDES:
Green fees, cart, water, golf balls, drink tickets (non-alcoholic), continental breakfast, lunch, and prizes.

Registration for the annual conference is not mandatory to attend the outing. Outside alcohol is not permitted.

Continental breakfast starting at 7:00 a.m.

Access www.myaccount.boroughs.org and click Conferences tab to register now, or detach and return  
the completed form by May 16, 2025 to: PSAB, 2941 North Front Street, Harrisburg, PA 17110

For additional information, please contact: Amanda Potts at apotts@boroughs.org / 800-232-7722, Ext. 1012  
or Dani Baker-Papinchak at dbaker@boroughs.org / 800-232-7722, Ext. 1032.

REGISTRATION

PENNSYLV
A

N
IA

 S
TATE  ASSOCIATIO

N
 O

F B
O

RO
UGHS

Bellefonte Borough Council Packet February 3, 2025

Page 29 of 143



Annual Conference  
& Exhibition

June 1-4, 2025 

Hershey Lodge 

PA State Association of Boroughs
2941 North Front Street

Harrisburg, PA 17110

Return Service Requested

Registration form enclosed for the 113th  
Annual Conference or register securely online  
at www.myaccount.boroughs.org

•  Elected Officials Mini Boot Camp
•  State Agency Panel
•  Legislative Panel and Update
•  Tips for an Effective Public Meeting
•  Cybersecurity for Municipal Leaders
•  Benefiting from a Multi-Generational Workforce
•  Building Resilient Communities
•  Trends in Zoning
•  Legal Update
•  Anatomy of an Arbitration
•  Fostering a Successful Relationship  

with PennDOT

•  Q & A with the Fire Commissioner  
& Program Leaders

•   The Latest Development in the  
Right-to-Know Law

•  Strategic Code Enforcement
•  AI for Local Government
•  Police Panel
•   Preparing and Reviewing  

Municipal Contracts
•  Population Breakouts
•  Much More

Events
• Breakfast with Your Legislator on Monday

• Awards Luncheon and Banquet
• Exhibit Marketplace

PRESORTED
STANDARD

U.S. POSTAGE
PAID

HARRISBURG PA
PERMIT NO. 496

PENNSYLV
A

N
IA

 S
TATE  ASSOCIATIO

N
 O

F B
O

RO
UGHS

PSAB 113TH Annual Conference & Exhibition

Sessions

Bellefonte Borough Council Packet February 3, 2025

Page 30 of 143



Bellefonte Borough Council Packet February 3, 2025

Page 31 of 143



Bellefonte Borough Council Packet February 3, 2025

Page 32 of 143



Bellefonte Borough Council Packet February 3, 2025

Page 33 of 143



Bellefonte Borough Council Packet February 3, 2025

Page 34 of 143



Bellefonte Borough Council Packet February 3, 2025

Page 35 of 143



Bellefonte Borough Council Packet February 3, 2025

Page 36 of 143



Bellefonte Borough Council Packet February 3, 2025

Page 37 of 143



Bellefonte Borough Council Packet February 3, 2025

Page 38 of 143



Bellefonte Borough Council Packet February 3, 2025

Page 39 of 143



Bellefonte Borough Council Packet February 3, 2025

Page 40 of 143



Bellefonte Borough Council Packet February 3, 2025

Page 41 of 143



Bellefonte Borough Council Packet February 3, 2025

Page 42 of 143



Bellefonte Borough Council Packet February 3, 2025

Page 43 of 143



Bellefonte Borough Council Packet February 3, 2025

Page 44 of 143



Bellefonte Borough Council Packet February 3, 2025

Page 45 of 143



Bellefonte Borough Council Packet February 3, 2025

Page 46 of 143



Bellefonte Borough Council Packet February 3, 2025

Page 47 of 143



Bellefonte Borough Council Packet February 3, 2025

Page 48 of 143



Bellefonte Borough Council Packet February 3, 2025

Page 49 of 143



Bellefonte Borough Council Packet February 3, 2025

Page 50 of 143



Bellefonte Borough Council Packet February 3, 2025

Page 51 of 143



Bellefonte Borough Council Packet February 3, 2025

Page 52 of 143



Bellefonte Borough Council Packet February 3, 2025

Page 53 of 143



Bellefonte Borough Council Packet February 3, 2025

Page 54 of 143



Bellefonte Borough Council Packet February 3, 2025

Page 55 of 143



Bellefonte Borough Council Packet February 3, 2025

Page 56 of 143



Bellefonte Borough Council Packet February 3, 2025

Page 57 of 143



Bellefonte Borough Council Packet February 3, 2025

Page 58 of 143



Bellefonte Borough Council Packet February 3, 2025

Page 59 of 143



Bellefonte Borough Council Packet February 3, 2025

Page 60 of 143



Bellefonte Borough Council Packet February 3, 2025

Page 61 of 143



Bellefonte Borough Council Packet February 3, 2025

Page 62 of 143



BELLEFONTE BOROUGH COUNCIL 
                           Regular Meeting 

  MEETING MINUTES 
January 21, 2025 - 7:30 p.m. 

301 N. Spring Street, Suite 200, Bellefonte, Pennsylvania 16823 
www.bellefonte.net 

 
I. CALL TO ORDER (Council President Barbara Dann) 
The January 21, 2025 meeting of the Bellefonte Borough Council was called to order at 7:30 
p.m. 
 
II. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE  
 
III. MEMBERS PRESENT  Mr. Kent Bernier 
     Mr. Randall Brachbill  
     Ms. Deborah Cleeton, Pro Tempore   
     Ms. Barbara Dann, President 
     Mr. Douglas Johnson, Vice President 
     Ms. Shawna McKean 
     Ms. Rita Purnell 
     Ms. Johanna Sedgwick  
     Ms. Joanne Tosti-Vasey 
     Mr. Christian Larson, Jr. Council Member- EXCUSED 
     Ms. Jalyn Meckley,  Jr. Council Member 
     Mayor Buddy Johnson 
 
STAFF PRESENT   Mr. Bill Witmer, Police Chief  
     Ms. Julie Brooks, Staff  
     Mr. Ralph Stewart, Borough Manager 
______________________________________________________________________________ 
 
IV. ADDITIONS TO THE AGENDA 

NONE 
 
V. PUBLIC COMMENT 
 
SPECIAL PRESENTATION - Jennifer Pettina, Centre County Tax Claims and Collections 
Director 

• Announcement: Centre County Real Estate Tax Bill is changing its look. Now will be on 
a perforated, self-sealed mailer.  She presented a slideshow that showed the new format. 

 
VI.  COMMUNICATIONS (written) 
2025 Junior Council Person Application—Jalyn Meckley. Jalyn's application is included.  

 

Bellefonte Borough Council Packet February 3, 2025

Page 63 of 143

http://www.bellefonte.net/


Tosti-Vasey motioned to approve Jalyn Meckley as Jr. Borough Council Member. There 
was no second announced. No discussion.  Roll Call vote. Motion carried.  

Mr. Kent Bernier               yes Ms. Shawna McKean                  yes 
Mr. Randy Brachbill          yes Ms. Rita Purnell                           yes 
Ms. Deb Cleeton               yes Ms. Johanna Sedgwick               yes 
Ms. Barbara Dann            yes Ms. Joanne Tosti-Vasey             yes 
Mr. Doug Johnson            yes  

 
o The Mayor lead Ms. Meckley in responding to the Junior Council Person Pledge. 

 
Centre County Metropolitan Planning Organization (MPO) Winter Report. No council action is 
requested. 

 
Sewage Enforcement Officer (SEO) Annual Appointment. SEO Proposal from Centre Region 
Code. Currently, the position is vacant. Council may take action on this Proposal. 

 
Tosti-Vasey motioned and McKean seconded to approve the proposal. No discussion. Roll 
call vote. Motion carried.  

Mr. Kent Bernier               yes Ms. Shawna McKean                  yes 
Mr. Randy Brachbill          yes Ms. Rita Purnell                           yes 
Ms. Deb Cleeton               yes Ms. Johanna Sedgwick               yes 
Ms. Barbara Dann            yes Ms. Joanne Tosti-Vasey             yes 
Mr. Doug Johnson            yes  

 
VII. CONSENT AGENDA (will be acted upon by a single motion unless otherwise noted) 
 
Consent Agenda includes the following items: 

1. Finance Financial Reports will be in the February 3rd, 2025 packet. 
2. General DRAFT Council Meeting Minutes January 6th, 2024 
3. General Solicitor Stover Invoice 

 
There was no announcement of motion or second for approval of the consent agenda. Roll call 
vote. Motion to approve Consent Agenda items 2 and 3 listed above carried.  

Mr. Kent Bernier               yes Ms. Shawna McKean                  yes 
Mr. Randy Brachbill          yes Ms. Rita Purnell                           yes 
Ms. Deb Cleeton               yes Ms. Johanna Sedgwick               yes 
Ms. Barbara Dann            yes Ms. Joanne Tosti-Vasey             yes 
Mr. Doug Johnson            yes  
 
Roll call vote to approve item 1 in the Consent Agenda. Discussion included changing wording 
from “Absent” to “Excused”. Roll Call vote. Names for the motion and second were not 
announced.  Motion to approve carried.  

Mr. Kent Bernier               yes Ms. Shawna McKean                  yes 
Mr. Randy Brachbill          yes Ms. Rita Purnell                           yes 
Ms. Deb Cleeton               yes Ms. Johanna Sedgwick               yes 

Bellefonte Borough Council Packet February 3, 2025

Page 64 of 143



Ms. Barbara Dann            yes Ms. Joanne Tosti-Vasey             yes 
Mr. Doug Johnson            yes  
 

VIII. REPORTS   
Mayor Johnson  
Mayor Johnson encouraged Borough residents to be mindful of the cold and to make sure to check 
on friends, family and neighbors. Also be aware of leaving pets outside.  
 

Police  (Chief Witmer) 
 December 2024 

 
Parking 
December 2024 

 
Office of Community Affairs (OCA)/Historical and Architectural Review Board (HARB) 

• No HARB meeting for January 28th 
• The next HARB meeting is February 11 at 8:30 a.m. 
• The next Planning Commission meeting is on February 10 at 5:00 p.m. 
• NVJPC meeting minutes from November 21, 2024, included 
• NVJPC meeting summary for January 16, 2025, included in the OCA report 

 
Liaison Reports  (Reports were submitted) 
 
Nuisance Codes  

November & December 2024 
 
Borough Manager  
December 2024 Report 

IX.  CURRENT and OLD BUSINESS 
 
The Authority is exploring the placement of wells in the expanded area of Talleyrand Park.  

o At the Authority Meeting on January 7th, consultants identified where the water is flowing 
underground. More work is needed to determine the depth of bedrock. The Authority is 
continuing to explore the wells option which, if successful, would mean the uncovering of 
the Big Spring.  
oThe PowerPoint Diagram is included.  
oNo council action is requested at this time.  
oGrant funds are being used to fund this project.  
oThe project is currently running under budget. 
oThere was a brief discussion regarding how this project will impact the proposed 
bandshell/stage project.  

 
X. NEW BUSINESS 

The Memo regarding the Community Yard Sale, Riff Raff, Halloween, and Holiday Parking 
in the Borough. Proposed Dates are as follows: 

o Yard Sale Dates – (Fri. & Sat.) May 16 & 17, 2025 

Bellefonte Borough Council Packet February 3, 2025

Page 65 of 143



o Bulk Waste /Riff Raff Pick Up – (Mon. – Fri.) May 19-23, 2025 
o Halloween Trick-or-Treating Hours, 6 – 8 PM, Friday, October 31, 2025* 

• *Subject to change based on school/football schedules 
• Halloween parade is scheduled for Saturday, October 25, 2025 

o 2-Hour Courtesy Parking Program, Thursday, November 27, 2025-Thursday, January 
1, 2026 

 
Johnson motioned and Brachbill seconded to approve the dates provided for the Community 
Yard Sale, Riff Raff, Halloween, and Holiday Parking in Bellefonte Borough. Discussion 
including asking to clarify on the website that the 3 holidays included in this timeframe, 
Thanksgiving, Christmas and New Years Day would be a full day of free parking, not just 2 
hours. It will be clarified on the website that parking on those 3 days will not be enforced.  
Roll call vote. Motion to approve carried.  

Mr. Kent Bernier               yes Ms. Shawna McKean                  yes 
Mr. Randy Brachbill          yes Ms. Rita Purnell                           yes 
Ms. Deb Cleeton               yes Ms. Johanna Sedgwick               yes 
Ms. Barbara Dann            yes Ms. Joanne Tosti-Vasey             yes 
Mr. Doug Johnson            yes  

 
Draft Resolution No. 01212025-01 Amending the Council Meeting Public Comment Policy. 
Council may discuss the draft and make additional amendments. Council may take action on 
the Resolution. 

 
Cleeton motioned and Tosti-Vasey seconded to approve Draft Resolution No. 01212025-01 
Amending the Council Meeting Public Comment Policy. Discussion included Tosti-Vasey 
proposing wording changes and various council members discussing the comments policy. 
The amendments were agreed upon and there was a roll call vote to approve the amended 
resolution. Motion to approve the amended motion carried with 2 no and 7 yes votes.  

  Mr. Kent Bernier               no Ms. Shawna McKean                  yes 
Mr. Randy Brachbill          no Ms. Rita Purnell                           yes 
Ms. Deb Cleeton               yes Ms. Johanna Sedgwick               yes 
Ms. Barbara Dann            yes Ms. Joanne Tosti-Vasey             yes 
Mr. Doug Johnson            yes  

 
Fee Schedule Approval. The Borough’s Fee Schedule was changed/updated.  

 
Cleeton motioned and Johnson seconded to approve the updated Fee Schedule as presented. 
Discussion included clarifications of changes. Roll call vote. Motion carried.  

Mr. Kent Bernier               yes Ms. Shawna McKean                  yes 
Mr. Randy Brachbill          yes Ms. Rita Purnell                           yes 
Ms. Deb Cleeton               yes Ms. Johanna Sedgwick               yes 
Ms. Barbara Dann            yes Ms. Joanne Tosti-Vasey             yes 
Mr. Doug Johnson            yes  

 
 

Bellefonte Borough Council Packet February 3, 2025

Page 66 of 143



 
XI. PUBLIC COMMENT REGARDING ISSUES NOT ON THE AGENDA 

NONE 
 
XII. COUNCIL MEMBER COMMENTS/FOR THE GOOD OF THE ORDER 
 

Deb Cleeton announced that on Wednesday, 1/22/25, CATA will hold a community input 
meeting from 5 pm-7 pm in the Community Room at Schlow Library. More information is 
on the Borough Website including the link to the video meeting.  

 
Mr. Stewart mentioned the newsletter deadline of January 31, 2025. He encouraged council 
members to make sure to submit any items for the newsletter by the deadline to get the 
newsletter out on time.  

 
Mr. Johnson welcomed Jalyn to Council and thanked her for being willing to volunteer her 
time for community service.  

 
Ms. Sedgwick thanked Borough crews for their hard work keeping up with winter weather 
this year. She also urged Borough residents to keep their sidewalks cleared.   

 
Ms. Meckley thanked Council for their warm welcome and stated she is very excited to work 
with Council.  

 
XIII. ADJOURNMENT   
Johnson motioned to adjourn. There was no second.  The meeting adjourned at 8:20 pm.  
An executive session was held after the meeting to discuss legal issues.  

Bellefonte Borough Council Packet February 3, 2025

Page 67 of 143



Treasurer's Report
2024

Month - December

Account Budgeted Receipts % Budgeted Expenses %
Receipts To Date Received Expenses To Date Spent 

  General 4,138,850 3,857,261 93.2% 4,138,850 3,593,790 86.8%
  Streetlighting 107,505 108,851 101.3% 107,505 5 98,766 91.9%
  Fire Department 233,180 440,498 188.9% 233,180 425,657 182.5%
  Fire Equipment 102,165 104,113 101.9% 102,165 105,766 103.5%
  Parks 120,135 158,045 131.6% 120,135 108,422 90.3%
  Water 1,969,590 1,777,191 90.2% 1,969,590 1,948,172 98.9%
  Sanitation 3,805,635 3,844,013 101.0% 3,805,635 2,754,531 72.4%
  Refuse 1,237,850 1,234,893 99.8% 1,237,850 1,212,140 97.9%
  Special Projects 1,171,090 39,431 3.4% 1,171,090 570,756 48.7%
Liquid Fuels 307,700 173,553 56.4% 307,700 132,090 42.9%
301 N Spring St 95,130 90,399 95.0% 95,130 103,450 108.8%
  Capital Projects 767,750 385,899 50.3% 767,750 348,892 45.4%
  Bulk Water Sales 670,250 623,740 93.1% 670,250 593,249 88.5%
EMS 29,465 29,727 100.9% 29,465  30,270 102.7%
Total 14,756,295 12,867,612 87.2% 14,756,295 12,025,952 81.5%

Above figures are computer generated

Beg of Month Receipts Expenses End of Month

 General 908,396 130,308 400,725 637,979
 Act 13 29,654 93 0 29,747
 Streetlighting 203,491 1,334 46,159 158,666
 Fire Department 244,792 1,953 19,621 227,124
 Fire Equipment 96,178 486 2,613 94,050
 Parks 94,460 3,353 3,623 94,191
 Water 566,366 147,484 290,661 423,189
 Sanitation 490,029 201,733 320,876 370,885
 Refuse 483,334 130,213 123,785 489,762
 Special Projects 1,807 1 20 1,788
 Capital Projects 252,425 790 0 253,215
 Danone Water 60,601 40,355 53,054 47,903

.
Total 3,431,534 658,102 1,261,136 2,828,500

Above figures are from Bank Statements

Differences due to timing, outstanding checks, etc.

Bellefonte Borough Council Packet February 3, 2025

Page 68 of 143



Bellefonte Borough Council Packet February 3, 2025

Page 69 of 143



Bellefonte Borough Council Packet February 3, 2025

Page 70 of 143



Bellefonte Borough Council Packet February 3, 2025

Page 71 of 143



Bellefonte Borough Council Packet February 3, 2025

Page 72 of 143



Bellefonte Borough Council Packet February 3, 2025

Page 73 of 143



Bellefonte Borough Council Packet February 3, 2025

Page 74 of 143



Bellefonte Borough Council Packet February 3, 2025

Page 75 of 143



Bellefonte Borough Council Packet February 3, 2025

Page 76 of 143



Bellefonte Borough Council Packet February 3, 2025

Page 77 of 143



Bellefonte Borough Council Packet February 3, 2025

Page 78 of 143



Bellefonte Borough Council Packet February 3, 2025

Page 79 of 143



Bellefonte Borough Council Packet February 3, 2025

Page 80 of 143



Bellefonte Borough Council Packet February 3, 2025

Page 81 of 143



Bellefonte Borough Council Packet February 3, 2025

Page 82 of 143



Bellefonte Borough Council Packet February 3, 2025

Page 83 of 143



Bellefonte Borough Council Packet February 3, 2025

Page 84 of 143



Bellefonte Borough Council Packet February 3, 2025

Page 85 of 143



Bellefonte Borough Council Packet February 3, 2025

Page 86 of 143



Bellefonte Borough Council Packet February 3, 2025

Page 87 of 143



Bellefonte Borough Council Packet February 3, 2025

Page 88 of 143



Bellefonte Borough Council Packet February 3, 2025

Page 89 of 143



Bellefonte Borough Council Packet February 3, 2025

Page 90 of 143



Bellefonte Borough Council Packet February 3, 2025

Page 91 of 143



Bellefonte Borough Council Packet February 3, 2025

Page 92 of 143



Junior Council Member Report 
February 3, 2025 

  
- Junior Council Member Report will be provided at the first meeting of every month. 

- Please contact me if you have any questions or topics you would like me to look into. 

Borough Report: 

- I am currently researching and reviewing the Junior Council Person program information 

and presentation from Kris (Trafford Borough). 

School Report: 

- School resumed on January 7, 2025 

- Quarter 2 ended on January 22, 2025 

- The Challenge Program visite the high school 

- Their goal is to motivate high school students to develop the habits required to 

succeed in school and their careers 

- 145 Schools participate 

- Award $$$ for attendance, STEM courses, community service, academic 

improvement, and academic excellence  

- Xello/Career preparation updates 

- AP applications were submitted 

Extra Curricular Report: 

- FBLA attended their Regional Leadership Conference 

- Three Bellefonte FFA members received their FFA jackets 

- The cheer team attended their PIAA States competition 

- Academic Decathlon attended districts 

- Student Council is holding its first-ever Pickleball Event on February 15th to help raise 

money for Mini Thon  

Bellefonte Borough Council Packet February 3, 2025

Page 93 of 143



PLANNING: 
 
The Planning Commission will meet on Monday, February 10th at 5:00 p.m. On the agenda 
will be the review of the proposed LDP of Mach-One Clubhouse on Sunnyside Boulevard.  
 

 
ZONING: 

 
Ongoing projects include:  

• Inventory of commercial spaces: vacancy, use classification, etc.  
• Several new business inquiries and permits 
• Short-term rental 2025 renewals – to date, I have received 10 renewals out of 21 

total STRs. I will send out email reminders to those that haven’t submitted their 
renewals yet.  

• 911 Address clean up – downtown commercial and rental addresses mostly.  
• Zoning/Code property checks, outstanding permits, follow-up with maintenance 
• Research relevant zoning laws and suggest zoning amendments and updates as 

necessary.  
 
Sign Ordinance: Consideration of removing from Zoning Ordinance 
 
I ask that Council consider removing the sign ordinance from the Zoning Ordinance 
and into its own chapter within the Borough Code. This approach is common among 
other municipalities, and allows for easier enforcement and more flexibility to adapt 
regulations to evolving commercial business trends. 
 
College Township, State College Borough, Patton Township, and Ferguson Township all 
have their Sign ordinance outside the regulations of their Zoning codes. Hollidaysburg 
Borough currently has their sign ordinance within their zoning ordinance, but they are in 
the process of moving the ordinance to its own chapter within their codes. Beyond our 
region, many boroughs across Pennsylvania, particularly those with Historic Districts, have 
already established separate sign ordinances.  
 
As Bellefonte’s commercial districts continue to evolve, particularly within our downtown 
Historic District, it is essential to maintain strong sign regulations that preserve the 
borough’s distinctive historic character. A well-enforced sign ordinance ensures that 
business signage aligns with the community’s architectural integrity, prevents visual 

Bellefonte Borough Council Packet February 3, 2025

Page 94 of 143



clutter, and reinforces Bellefonte’s unique identity. Removing the sign ordinance from the 
Zoning Ordinance will allow staff to enforce regulations more effectively, ensuring 
consistency and compliance. This change will help sustain the charm and economic vitality 
of our historic downtown while providing businesses with clear, accessible guidelines. 
Additionally, better utilizing the Design Guidelines for Signs in the Historic District, 
adopted in 2021, will further support cohesive and historically appropriate signage. 
 
Thank you for considering this request. Ralph Stewart may be able to provide further 
explanation and guidance.  
 
Bellefonte Economic Vitality 
 
While it may seem as though Bellefonte has many empty storefronts, there have been a 
steady number of new businesses, and I continue to field several inquries weekly about 
available commercial space. Currently, I have three pending new business permits for the 
downtown.  
 
It’s not uncommon for any town, large or small, to have available storefront and for 
businesses to come and go. Below is the list of new business permits that were issued in 
2024:  
  
- Earth and Bone Tattoo 
- By Faith Beauty 
- Mikey Dutch Contracting 
- Pap’s Antiques & More (now closed) 
- Wild Honey Photo Co. & Audrey’s 

Fluttering Shutters Photography, LLC.  
- Penn Highlands Community College 
- Chew Chew Bun (now closed) 

- Terrapin Care Station 
- Courthouse Pub 
- Hobby Hour 
- Frame Factory & Gallery 
- Independent Home Health LLC.  
- Bellefonte Building Supply 
- Happy Valley Apartments 
- Mel’s Laundry Lounge, LLC 

 
In addition, about fifteen existing Bellefonte businesses were permitted for zoning during 
the fire safety re-inspection. As the fire safety re-inspection becomes due with CRCA, I use 
that opportunity to get already existing businesses formally permitted with Zoning.  
 
 

HARB: 
 
HARB will meet on Tuesday, February 11, at 8:30 a.m. There is currently at least one 
project for review and several administrative approvals that I am working on.  

Bellefonte Borough Council Packet February 3, 2025

Page 95 of 143

mailto:gthompson@bellefontepa.gov


Public Transit Task Force Update:  02/03/2025

Our Task Force is a inter-municipal, collaborative effort to explore public transportation service 
levels and options for Bellefonte Borough, Benner Township and Spring Township.  Spring 
Township has been invited to all of our meetings and is kept informed of our discussions.  Each 
municipality is responsible for funding any public transportation service provided by the Centre 
Area Transportation Authority (CATA) within that municipality.  

The Task Force met on January 23, 2025, with representatives from CATA, Bellefonte Borough and
Benner Twp., to discuss continued public transit service for 07/01/25 – 06/30/26.  The following 
were present at this meeting:

Task Force:  Joanne Tosti-Vasey (co-chair), Deb Cleeton (co-chair), Hugh Mose
Bellefonte Borough:  Ralph Stewart, Julie Brooks
Benner Township:  Kathy Evey
CATA:  Dave Rishel, Derek Sherman, Lori Miller

The Bellefonte/Benner B-line was introduced on July 1, 2024, and provides only 90% of the 
service capacity previously offered by CATAGO!   This has presented challenges for regular public 
transit users with; limited hours of operation, reservation restrictions and a higher (cash only) 
fare.  On November 18, 2024, using already allocated resources, CATA increased the hours of 
operation on the B-Line to provide mid-day service.  Using data collected since July 2024, CATA is 
considering a re-design of the B-Line that would provide more efficient service within the 
Borough and continue to meet the needs of passengers with destinations in Benner Twp. or to 
CATA fixed route service in College Twp.

Our immediate priority is to keep public transportation operating in Bellefonte Borough and 
Benner Twp. beyond June 30, 2025.  Long term goals include expansion of public transit service 
to residents in Benner Twp. along Rte. 550 and a resumption of service in Spring Twp.  CATA will 
look into making past ridership data available to be used as part of a needs assessment study 
required for future, long-term public transit services.  There may be grant funding available for 
the needs assessment study.

The meeting included discussions on the current state of public transit service, potential service 
expansions, and the challenges local businesses and residents face.  We explored the local and 
financial aspects of the CATA's public transit service, the cost-effectiveness of different 
transportation options, and the potential for expanding public transit services in the area.

Tentatively, CATA will present a service proposal for 07/01/25 – 06/30/26 at a Work Session prior 
to our Council meeting on February 18, 2025.

Bellefonte Borough Council Packet February 3, 2025

Page 96 of 143



1

Ralph Stewart

From: Barbara Dann
Sent: Thursday, January 30, 2025 3:34 PM
To: Doug Johnson; Deborah Cleeton; Kent Bernier; Shawna McKean; Johanna Sedgwick; 

Randy Brachbill; Rita Purnell; Joanne Tosti-Vasey
Cc: Ralph Stewart; Alyssa Doherty
Subject: Committees of Council
Attachments: Committees of Council 2025.docx

Hello all, 
 
I've attached a copy of the Committee definitions. 
 
The Committees for Council for 2025 are as follows: 
 
Environmental and Parks 
Joanne Tosti-Vasey - Chair 
Rita Purnell 
Randy Brachbill 
Kent Bernier 
 
Finance and Administration 
Debbie Cleaton - Chair 
Joanne Tosti-Vasey 
Johanna Sedgwick 
Shawna McKean 
 
Streets 
Doug Johnson - Chair 
Kent Bernier 
Debbie Cleeton 
Rita Purnell 
 
Infrastructure and Public Works 
Randy Brachbill - Chair 
Doug Johnson 
Johanna Sedgwick 
Shawna McKean 
 
The Chair of each committee will schedule the committee meeting once per month, being sure that all members can 
attend. 
 
The Chair can assign one person to take notes during the meeting.  Those notes will then be part of the Reports on the 
agenda at the second meeting of the month.. 
 
After the meeting time and date is set for each month, the meetings must be published in the Lock Haven Express. They 
will also be added to the Borough calendar on the website. Some Committees may need to schedule more frequent 
meetings and they will also be published. 
 

Bellefonte Borough Council Packet February 3, 2025

Page 97 of 143



2

We will also be forming two Ad Hoc ( I know you love that term Kent!) Committees. 
 
The first one is the Fire Department.  Randy Brachbill will be the Chair and we will need volunteers for that committee. 
 
The Second Committe is Updating the Ordinances and Employee Handbook. These have not been updated in a long 
time. 
 
At the Agenda meeting today we discussed not having Work Sessions unless absolutely necessary.  There would then be 
time before council meetings for some committee meetings. 
 
If you have questions or comments, feel free to call me or reply to this email. (NOT reply ALL). 
 
We will also be discussing this at the meeting Monday night. 
 
Thank you, 
 
Barbara 
 
Barbara Dann 
Bellefonte Borough Council President 
814 883 8708 

Bellefonte Borough Council Packet February 3, 2025

Page 98 of 143



Finance and Administration 
Mission: Provide oversight and guidance to Borough Council for a preliminary annual budget 
including recommendation of rate of tax and fees required to meet proposed expenditures. The 
committee shall review and oversee: contracts, labor agreements, insurance coverages, grant 
proposals, ordinance review, a financial plan for capital expenditures, issuance and repayment 
of debt. Further, the committee oversees all personnel matters and other administrative issues 
that may arise.  

Environmental and Parks 
Mission: Responsible for overseeing environmental initiatives of the Borough, promoting 
sustainability of resources, and maintaining council commitment to environmental preservation 
and advocacy in the borough. Develop a park maintenance plan, promote utilization of parks 
and other open spaces for the benefit of all residents of the borough.  

Infrastructure and Public Works 
Mission: Oversight of all municipal services activity of Public Works including waste (trash, 
recycling, and yard waste programs, leaf collection), and maintenance of borough buildings. To 
the extent deemed necessary by Council, a building and property maintenance plan will be 
developed. The Committee works with the Borough Authority and Penn Dot for water and sewer 
system issues.  

Streets 
Mission: Oversight and guidance for the maintenance of all streets, street signage, street 
lighting, traffic signals, crosswalk lighting, stamped crosswalk integration, lanes, curbs, storm 
drains and street crossings.  The committee shall have prepared plans and specifications for 
any of the aforesaid work, as may be required, and furnish council with estimates of the cost 
thereof.  The committee will develop and implement an annual road repair and improvement 
schedule and assure that snow removal is executed in a timely fashion.  The Committee works 
with Penn Dot regarding Penn DoT streets. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Bellefonte Borough Council Packet February 3, 2025

Page 99 of 143



{DocNo=01086226.1 } 

 

RULES AND REGULATIONS

OF THE 

Bellefonte Borough  

CIVIL SERVICE 

COMMISSION 
  

Bellefonte Borough Council Packet February 3, 2025

Page 100 of 143



{DocNo=01086226.1 } 2 

 

Bellefonte Borough Council Packet February 3, 2025

Page 101 of 143



{DocNo=01086226.1 } i 

 

INDEX 

Page No. 

ARTICLE I. DEFINITION OF TERMS ....................................................................................................... 1 

101. Definitions ...................................................................................................................................... 1 

102. Gender ............................................................................................................................................ 3 

 

ARTICLE II. THE COMMISSION ............................................................................................................... 4 

201. Civil Service Commission .............................................................................................................. 4 

202. Offices Incompatible with a Civil Service Commissioner ............................................................. 4 

203. Officers/Organization ..................................................................................................................... 4 

204. Duties of Chairperson ..................................................................................................................... 4 

205. Duties of Secretary ......................................................................................................................... 5 

206. Meetings ......................................................................................................................................... 5 

207. Quorum ........................................................................................................................................... 5 

208. Order of Business ........................................................................................................................... 5 

209. Minutes and Records ...................................................................................................................... 5 

210. Amendments ................................................................................................................................... 6 

211. Clerks, Supplies, and Solicitor ....................................................................................................... 6 

212. Investigations ................................................................................................................................. 6 

213. Subpoenas ....................................................................................................................................... 6 

214. Annual Report ............................................................................................................................... .7 

 

ARTICLE III. APPLICATIONS ................................................................................................................... 8 

301. Appointment of Police Officers ..................................................................................................... 8 

302. General Provisions Relating to Examinations ................................................................................ 8 

303. Application Form ........................................................................................................................... 8 

304. Non-Discrimination Policy ............................................................................................................ 9 

305. Age Qualifications .......................................................................................................................... 9 

306. General Qualifications -All Applicants for Police Officer ............................................................. 9 

307. Filing Applications ......................................................................................................................... 9 

308. Application Fee ............................................................................................................................ 10 

309. Recording Applications ................................................................................................................ 10 

310. Disqualification/Rejection of Applicant ....................................................................................... 10 

311. Hearing for Rejected or Disqualified Applicants ......................................................................... 11 

 

ARTICLE IV. ANNOUNCEMENT OF EXAMINATIONS ...................................................................... 12 

401. Sequence of the Selection Process ............................................................................................... 12 

402. Public Notice ................................................................................................................................ 12 

403. Notice of Physical Ability/Agility Examination .......................................................................... 12 

 

ARTICLE V. PHYSICAL ABILITY/AGILITY EXAMINATION ........................................................... 14 

501. The Physical Ability/Agility Examination .................................................................................... 14 

 

ARTICLE VI. THE WRITTEN EXAMINATION ..................................................................................... 15 

601. Admission to Examination ........................................................................................................... 15 

Bellefonte Borough Council Packet February 3, 2025

Page 102 of 143



{DocNo=01086226.1 } ii 

 

602. Type of Examination .................................................................................................................... 15 

603. Administration of Examination .................................................................................................... 15 

604. Written Examination Scores ......................................................................................................... 15 

 

ARTICLE VII. THE ORAL EXAMINATION ........................................................................................... 16 

701. Oral Examination Board ............................................................................................................... 16 

702. Admission to the Examination ..................................................................................................... 16 

703. Administration of the Oral Examination ...................................................................................... 16 

704. Improper Conduct ........................................................................................................................ 16 

 

ARTICLE VIII. ELIGIBILITY LIST .......................................................................................................... 17 

801. Examination Scores ...................................................................................................................... 17 

802. Veterans’ Preference .................................................................................................................... 17 

803. Preparation of Eligibility List ....................................................................................................... 17 

804. Duration of the Eligibility List ..................................................................................................... 17 

805. Furlough List ................................................................................................................................ 17 

 

ARTICLE IX. POLYGRAPH EXAMINATION AND BACKGROUND INVESTIGATION ................. 19 

901. Background Investigation ............................................................................................................ 19 

902. Fingerprinting ............................................................................................................................... 19 

903. Conduct of Background Investigation .......................................................................................... 19 

904. Results of Background Investigation ........................................................................................... 20 

905. Rejection of Applicant ................................................................................................................. 21 

 

ARTICLE X. PROMOTIONS IN THE POLICE DEPARTMENT ............................................................ 22 

1001.       Promotional Process..................................................................................................................... 22 

1002.       Application ................................................................................................................................... 22 

1003.       Eligibility for Examinations ......................................................................................................... 22 

1004.       Administration of the Examinations ............................................................................................ 22 

1005.       Written Examination .................................................................................................................... 22 

1006.       Oral Examination Board .............................................................................................................. 23 

1007.       Oral Examination ......................................................................................................................... 23 

1008.       Promotional Examination Scores ................................................................................................. 23 

1009.       Promotional List........................................................................................................................... 23 

1010.       Duration of the Promotional List ................................................................................................. 23 

 

ARTICLE XI. CERTIFICATION AND APPOINTMENT ........................................................................ 24 

1101.       Filling Vacancies ......................................................................................................................... 24 

1102.       Filling Appointments ................................................................................................................... 24 

1103.       Removal of Names from Furlough or Eligibility Lists ................................................................ 24 

1104.       Certification from Eligibility List and Appointment ................................................................... 24 

Bellefonte Borough Council Packet February 3, 2025

Page 103 of 143



{DocNo=01086226.1 } iii 

 

ARTICLE XII. CONDITIONAL OFFER OF EMPLOYMENT – ACT 57 OF 2020 MPOETC SEPARATION 

RECORDS REQUEST AND PHYSICAL AND PSYCHOLOGICAL MEDICAL EXAMINATION ................... 26 

1201.       Act 57 of 2020 MPOETC Separation Records Request  ..................................................................... 26 

1202.       Appointment of Physical and Psychological Examiners ..................................................................... 27 

1203.       Medical and Physical Examinations ................................................................................................. 27 

 
ARTICLE XIII. PROBATIONARY PERIOD ............................................................................................ 29 

1301.       Probationary Period ..................................................................................................................... 29 

1302.       Provisional Appointments ............................................................................................................ 30 

 

ARTICLE XIV. REMOVAL, SUSPENSION, AND REDUCTION IN RANK ........................................ 31 

1401.       Cause for Removal, Suspension, and Reduction in Rank ............................................................ 31 

1402.       Suspension Procedure .................................................................................................................. 31 

1403.       Statement of Charges ................................................................................................................... 32 

1404.       Hearing of Dismissals, Suspensions, and Reductions in Rank .................................................... 32 

1405.       Conduct of Hearing ...................................................................................................................... 32 

1406.       Right of Counsel and Witness Testimony ................................................................................... 32 

1407.       Standard of Review ...................................................................................................................... 32 

1408.       Decision of the Civil Service Commission .................................................................................. 32 

1409.       Appeal to Court of Common Pleas .............................................................................................. 33 

1410.       Dismissal of Charges ................................................................................................................... 33 

 

ARTICLE XV. ADOPTION ....................................................................................................................... 34 

1501.       Resolution Adopting These Rules and Regulations..................................................................... 34 

Bellefonte Borough Council Packet February 3, 2025

Page 104 of 143



{DocNo=01086226.1 } 1 

 

RULES AND REGULATIONS  

OF THE  

CIVIL SERVICE COMMISSION 

 

ARTICLE I. DEFINITION OF TERMS  

 

101.    Definitions   

Unless otherwise expressly stated, the following words and phrases, wherever used in  

these rules and regulations shall be construed to have the meaning indicated herein: 

 

“APPLICANT” – Any individual who applies in writing to the Commission in response to a 

legally advertised notice of vacancy and/or examination for any position in the Police 

Department. 

 

“APPOINTING AUTHORITY” – The Borough Council of Bellefonte. 

 

“BOROUGH” – The Borough of Bellefonte. 

 

“BOROUGH COUNCIL” – The Council of the Borough of Bellefonte. 

 

“BOROUGH MANAGER” – The Manager of the Borough of Bellefonte.  

 

“CERTIFICATION” – The submission to the Appointing Authority of names taken from the 

Eligibility List. 

 

“CHAIRPERSON” -The Chairperson of the Civil Service Commission of the Borough of 

Bellefonte. 

 

“CHIEF OF POLICE” – The head of the _Bellefonte Police Department, whether serving in 

a regular, interim, or acting role, who is appointed or designated by Council and responsible 

to the Mayor of Bellefonte and, when serving in a regular role, is not covered by Bellefonte’s 

civil service provisions.   

 

“COMMISSION” - The Civil Service Commission of the Borough of Bellefonte. 

 

“COUNCIL” - The Borough Council of the Borough of Bellefonte. 
 

“ELIGIBLE” – A person whose name is recorded on a current Eligibility List or Furlough 

List. 

“ELIGIBILITY LIST” - The list of names of persons who have passed all non-medical 

Examinations and are otherwise eligible for appointment to a particular position in the Police 

Department. 

 

“EMPLOYMENT INFORMATION” - Written information in connection with job 

applications, performance evaluations, attendance records, disciplinary actions, and 

eligibility for rehire of any law enforcement agency that previously employed the Applicant. 

Bellefonte Borough Council Packet February 3, 2025

Page 105 of 143



{DocNo=01086226.1 } 2 

 

 

“EXAMINATION” – The series of tests given to candidates to determine their qualifications 

for a position in the Police Department. 

 

“FURLOUGH LIST” – The list of persons laid off from positions in the police department 

because of a reduction in the number of officers in the Police Department. 

 

“LAW ENFORCEMENT AGENCY” - A law enforcement agency of this Commonwealth 

that is the employer of a law enforcement officer. 

 

“LAW ENFORCEMENT OFFICER” - Any person who by virtue of their office or public 

employment is vested by law with a duty to maintain public order and the authority to make 

arrests for offenses. 

 

“LOUDERMILL HEARING” – A pre-deprivation due process hearing during which a police 

officer has an opportunity to answer charges against him/her that may result in disciplinary 

action that includes deprivation of a property interest in employment. 

 

“M.P.O.E.T.C.” – Municipal Police Officers’ Education and Training Commission. 

 

“MEDICAL EXAMINATION” - An examination, procedure, inquiry, or test designed to 

obtain information about medical history or a physical or mental condition which might 

disqualify an applicant if it would prevent the applicant from performing, with or without a 

reasonable accommodation, all of the essential functions of the position. 

 

“MILITARY VETERAN” – This term shall be defined as it is in the Pennsylvania Veterans’ 

Preference Act, as amended. Currently, it includes: (1) an individual who served, as 

evidenced by the veteran’s discharge papers, separation documents or statement of service, 

or hereafter serves in any of the following: (i) in the armed forces of the United States, 

including a reserve component or National Guard, has completed their initial contractual 

military service obligation and their last discharge or release was under conditions other than 

dishonorable; (ii) in the armed forces of the United States, including a reserve component or 

National Guard, has served during a period of war or armed conflict as determined by the 

United States Department of Defense, has completed a tour of active duty for purposes other 

than training, was released from that period of active duty under conditions other than 

dishonorable and continues to serve; or (iii) in the armed forces of the United States, 

including a reserve component or National Guard, has completed an initial contractual 

military service obligation and continues to serve. (2) An active duty member of the armed 

forces of the United States who is completing a tour of active duty that is three years or more 

and is within 90 days of an approved discharge or release, as evidenced by documentation of 

the projected discharge or release from active duty under conditions other than dishonorable. 

“PHYSICIAN” – A physician as defined under 1 Pa.C.S. § 1991. 

 

“POLICE DEPARTMENT” – The Police Department of the Borough of Bellefonte. 

 

“POLICE OFFICER” – For purposes of these Rules and Regulations, a sworn full-time 

employee of the Bellefonte Borough Police Department who meets the requirements 

Bellefonte Borough Council Packet February 3, 2025

Page 106 of 143



{DocNo=01086226.1 } 3 

 

established by the Borough and Commonwealth of Pennsylvania (including the Municipal 

Police Officers’ Education and Training Commission), exclusive of the Chief of Police of 

the Borough of Bellefonte, or other designee of the Borough to serve as the head of the Police 

Department. 

 

“QUALIFIED MEDICAL PROFESSIONAL” - An individual, in collaboration with or under 

the supervision or direction of a physician, as may be required by law, who is licensed: (1) 

as a physician assistant under the act of December 20, 1985 (P.L. 457, No. 112), known as 

the Medical Practice Act of 1985, or the act of October 5, 1978 (P.L. 1109, No. 261), known 

as the Osteopathic Medical Practice Act; or (2) as a certified registered nurse practitioner 

under the act of May 22, 1951 (P.L. 317, No. 69), known as The Professional Nursing Law. 

 

“SPOUSE OF A DISABLED VETERAN” - This term shall be defined as it is in the 

Pennsylvania Veterans’ Preference Act, as amended. Currently, it includes the spouse of a 

veteran who has been classified by the United States Department of Veterans Affairs 

Veterans Benefits Administration as having a permanent total disability. 

 

“SURVIVING SPOUSE” - This term shall be defined as it is in the Pennsylvania Veterans’ 

Preference Act, as amended. Currently, it includes an unmarried spouse of a deceased veteran 

or of a service member who died on active duty in the United States Armed Forces, including 

a reserve component or National Guard. 

  

“PROBATIONER” - A person in the Police Department who has been appointed from an 

Eligibility List, but who has not yet completed, his/her probationary period of employment. 

 

“REDUCTION IN RANK” - A change to a different position or rank which results in a 

decrease in salary. However, a decrease in salary without a change to a different position or 

rank shall not constitute a Reduction in Rank. 

 

“REMOVAL” – The permanent separation of a Police Officer from his/her position in the 

Police Department. 

 

“SECRETARY” - The Secretary of the Civil Service Commission of the Borough of 

Bellefonte. 

 

“SEPARATION RECORDS” - Records of the reason or reasons for and circumstances 

surrounding a separation of a law enforcement officer from the service of a law enforcement 

agency. 

 

“SUSPENSION” – The temporary separation of a member of the Police Department from 

his/her position in the Police Department. Suspensions may be paid or unpaid. 

 

102.     Gender   

The words “he”, “his”, “him”, and “men” when used in these Rules and Regulations represent 

both the masculine and feminine genders. 

Bellefonte Borough Council Packet February 3, 2025

Page 107 of 143



{DocNo=01086226.1 } 4 

 

ARTICLE II. THE COMMISSION  

 

201.     Civil Service Commission  

The Civil Service Commission shall consist of three (3) Commissioners who shall be 

qualified electors of the Borough and shall be appointed by the Borough Council initially to serve 

for the terms of two, four, and six years. As terms thereafter expire, Commissioners shall be 

appointed for terms of six years. 

 

Borough Council may appoint up to three (3) qualified electors of the Borough to serve as 

alternate members of the Commission. The term of office of the alternate members shall be six (6) 

years. When seated pursuant to Section 207 B (below), an alternate shall be entitled to participate in 

all proceedings and discussions of the Commission to the same and full extent as provided by law 

for Commissioners, including the right to cast a vote as a voting member during the proceedings, 

and shall have all the powers and duties outlined in these Rules and Regulations and as otherwise 

provided by law. Alternates shall hold no other office in the Borough. An alternate may participate 

in any proceeding or discussion of the Commission but shall not be entitled to vote as a member of 

the Commission unless designated as a voting alternate member pursuant to Section 207 B (below). 

 

Any vacancy occurring in the Commission for any reason whatsoever shall be filled by the 

Borough Council for the unexpired term within the period of thirty (30) days after such a vacancy 

occurs. 

 

Each member of the Commission, before entering upon the discharge of the duties of their 

office, shall take an oath or affirmation to support the Constitutions of the United States and the 

Commonwealth of Pennsylvania and to perform their official duties with fidelity. This oath shall be 

given by the Mayor or other appropriate official. 

 

No Civil Service Commissioner shall receive compensation. 

 

202. Offices Incompatible with a Civil Service Commissioner 

No Commissioner shall at the same time hold an elective or appointed office with the United 

States government, the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania, or any political subdivision of the 

Commonwealth, except that one member of the Commission may be a member of the teaching 

profession. 

 

203. Officers/Organization   

The Civil Service Commission of the Borough of Bellefonte shall meet on the first Monday 

of each even-numbered year and elect one of its members as the Chairperson, one as Vice-

Chairperson, and one as Secretary. 

 

204. Duties of Chairperson  

The Chairperson, or in his/her absence, the Vice-Chairperson, shall preside at all meetings 

and hearings of the Commission, decide all points of order or procedure, and perform any duties 

required by law or these Rules and Regulations. The Chairperson, or in the absence of the 

Chairperson the Vice-Chairperson, shall be authorized to administer oaths and affirmations in 

connection with all matters brought before the Commission. He may be aided in these duties by the 

solicitor to the Commission. 

Bellefonte Borough Council Packet February 3, 2025

Page 108 of 143



{DocNo=01086226.1 } 5 

 

 

205. Duties of Secretary  

The Secretary shall, at the direction of the Commission, perform all official correspondence 

of the Commission, send out all notices required by law and these Rules and Regulations, keep a 

record of each examination or other official action of the Commission, make and record all minutes 

of all Commission meetings and perform all other duties required by law, by these Rules and by the 

Commission. 

 

206. Meetings   

Except for the biennial organizational meeting, all non-judicial meetings of the Commission 

shall be held either at the call of the Chairperson or at the call of two regular members of the 

Commission. These non-judicial meetings of the Commission are meetings open to the public and 

subject to the Sunshine Law requirements. Accordingly, public notice of these meetings shall be 

given and the meetings shall be conducted pursuant to all applicable Sunshine Law requirements. 

 

The Secretary shall give each Commissioner twenty-four hours' written notice of every 

meeting of the Commission unless all members have waived receipt of notice of the meeting. 

 

207.    Quorum   

A. Three (3) members of the Commission shall constitute a quorum and no action of the 

Commission shall be valid unless it shall have the concurrence of at least two (2) 

members. 

B. If, by reason of absence or disqualification of a member, a quorum is not reached, the 

Chairperson shall designate as many alternate members of the Commission as may 

be needed to provide a quorum. An alternate member of the Commission shall 

continue to serve on the Commission in all proceedings involving the matter or case 

for which the alternate was initially designated until the Commission has made a final 

determination of the matter or case. Designation of an alternate member pursuant to 

this Section shall be made on a case-by-case basis in rotation according to declining 

seniority among the alternates. 

 

208.   Order of Business  

The order of business of all non-judicial meetings of the Commission shall be as follows: 

 

(a) Roll Call; 

(b) Approval of the minutes of the previous meeting; 

(c) Unfinished business; 

(d) New business; 

(e) Communications and reports; 

(f) Adjournment. 

 

209.   Minutes and Records  

The Secretary shall make and keep the minutes of the Commission's proceedings showing the 

vote of each member upon each question or, if a member is absent or cannot vote due to a conflict of 

interest, such fact shall be reflected in the minutes. All records of the Commission shall be preserved 

and disposed of according to the Retention and Disposition Schedule for Records of Pennsylvania 

Municipalities under the authority of the Municipal Records Act, 1998 P.L.R. 175, No. 27, 53 Pa. 

Bellefonte Borough Council Packet February 3, 2025

Page 109 of 143



{DocNo=01086226.1 } 6 

 

C.S. § 1381, et seq. All records of applications for appointment received by the Commission shall 

be retained and preserved for a period of five (5) years after the due date for such applications. 

 

All records and minutes of the Civil Service Commission shall be stored in the 

administrative offices of the Borough of Bellefonte and be in the care, custody, and control of the 

Borough Manager. Documents and records constituting public records shall be made available to 

the public in accordance with the provisions of the Pennsylvania Right to Know Law. 

 

210. Amendments   

The Commission, with the approval of Council, may from time to time, amend any part of 

these Rules and Regulations. Before any amendment to these Rules and Regulations becomes 

effective, such amendment must be approved by the Council for the Borough of Bellefonte at a public 

meeting of Council. All Rules and Regulations and modifications thereto shall be made available by 

the Borough for public inspection and copying. 

 

211. Clerks, Supplies and Solicitor  

The Borough shall furnish the Commission with such supplies and use of the Borough’s 

administrative office staff as may be necessary for the Commission to fulfill its duties. The Borough 

shall provide a suitable and convenient room for the use of the Commission. 

 

In addition, the Commission may retain legal counsel to serve as its Solicitor, and any other 

consultants or experts, including testing experts, physicians, and psychologists/psychiatrists, as may 

be determined necessary and reasonable by the Commission. Prior to incurring any fees and expenses, 

including but not limited to such costs for counsel, consultants, experts, physicians, 

psychologists/psychiatrists, the Commission must submit a prior request to Council and obtain its 

approval. 

 

The Solicitor to the Commission must be licensed to practice law in the Commonwealth of 

Pennsylvania. The Solicitor for the Commission may not also be the Solicitor to the Borough or 

associated with the law firm of the Borough Solicitor when the Commission is acting in an 

adjudicatory capacity. 

212. Investigations   

The Commission shall have the power to conduct investigations concerning all matters 

relating to the administration and enforcement of these Rules and Regulations to the extent 

authorized by the Borough Code. The Chairperson of the Commission or in his absence, the Vice 

Chairperson, is authorized to administer oaths and affirmations in connection with such 

investigations. 

 

213. Subpoenas   

A. The Commission shall have the power to issue subpoenas under the signature of the 

Chairperson, or Vice-Chairperson in the Chairperson’s absence, to require the attendance of 

witnesses and the production of records and papers pertaining to any investigation or inquiry then 

pending before the Commission. The fees of such witnesses for attendance and travel shall be the 

same as for witnesses appearing in the Court of Common Pleas of Pennsylvania and shall be paid by 

the party seeking the attendance of the witness, or by the Commission itself (from appropriations for 

incidental expenses) where the Commission is the entity requesting the subpoena(s). 

 

Bellefonte Borough Council Packet February 3, 2025

Page 110 of 143



{DocNo=01086226.1 } 7 

 

B. All Borough Officers and Borough employees shall attend and testify when required 

to do so by the Commission. 

 

C. If 

any person shall refuse or neglect to obey any subpoena properly issued by the  

Commission, the Commission, or the requesting party may apply by petition to the Court of 

Common Pleas of Allegheny County for enforcement of that subpoena, requiring the 

attendance of such person(s) before the Commission to testify and to produce any records 

and papers necessary, and shall seek an order that in default thereof such individual(s) shall 

be held in contempt of court. 

 

214.   Annual Report 

The Commission shall make an annual report to Borough Council containing a brief summary 

of its work during the year and a full accounting of any expenditure of public monies. The annual 

report shall be available for public inspection. 

  

Bellefonte Borough Council Packet February 3, 2025

Page 111 of 143



{DocNo=01086226.1 } 8 

 

ARTICLE III. APPLICATIONS  

 

301. Appointment of Police Officers  

Each and every appointment to the Police Department shall be made only according to 

qualifications and fitness to be ascertained by examinations and procedures as set forth in these 

Rules and Regulations. 

 

302. General Provisions Relating to Examinations  

All examinations for appointment to the Police Department and for promotions within the 

Police Department shall be practical in character and shall relate to such matters and include such 

inquiries as will fairly test the merit and fitness of the persons examined to discharge the duties of 

the position sought. All examinations shall be open to all applicants who meet the minimum 

qualifications required by these Rules and Regulations. Public notice of the time and place of the 

examination, together with the information as to the kind of position to be filled, shall be given by 

publication a minimum of once in a newspaper of general circulation in the Borough of Bellefonte, 

at least two weeks prior to each examination, and a copy of the notice shall be prominently posted 

in the Municipal Office of the Borough of Bellefonte. 

 

303.     Application Form  

A. No person shall be permitted to take an examination for a position in the Police 

Department of the Borough of Bellefonte until after he/she has filed, on the official form prescribed 

by the Civil Service Commission, a formal application providing such information as the 

Commission may require. The application shall include an oath or affirmation by the Applicant 

stating that the application is completed truthfully and that the Applicant is subject to the penalties 

of 18 Pa.C.S. §4903 relating to unsworn falsification to authorities. The official application form 

and all notations, references, and statements appearing in it, or attached thereto, are incorporated 

by reference into these Rules and Regulations and shall be as much a part of these rules as if they 

were fully set forth herein. The following information shall be attached to the application form: 

 

(a) A copy of the job description and essential functions of the position; 

(b) A list of basic qualifications necessary for permanent appointment to the position of 

police officer; 

(c) A summary description of the selection process; and 

(d) A general statement of any physical performance and drug examinations required of 

applicants for the relevant position. 

 

B. Council may, at its choice, elect to participate in one or more joint application 

process(es) and/or joint testing procedure(s) conducted by such entities as a Council of Governments. 

In the event that Council elects to participate in a joint application process and/or joint testing 

procedure, the public notice for such examination shall indicate that the examination is being 

conducted pursuant to a joint application and/or testing program. 

 

All other procedures, rules, regulations, and eligibility requirements for a joint testing 

procedure shall be as set forth in these Rules and Regulations. 

 

 

 

Bellefonte Borough Council Packet February 3, 2025

Page 112 of 143



{DocNo=01086226.1 } 9 

 

304. Non-Discrimination Policy  

The Borough is an equal-opportunity employer. It is the Borough’s and the Commission’s 

policy to grant equal employment opportunities to all qualified persons without regard to race, 

religion, color, national origin, gender, age, veteran status, marital status, non-job-related physical 

or mental handicap or disability or any other characteristic or condition protected by law. The 

Borough and the Commission will provide equal opportunities in employment and promotion. 

 

No question in any form of application for examination or in any examination shall be so 

framed as to elicit information concerning the political or religious opinions or affiliations of any 

applicant nor shall inquiry be made concerning the opinions or affiliations, and all disclosures of 

opinions or affiliations shall be ignored. 

 

No discrimination shall be exercised, threatened, or promised by any person against or in 

favor of any applicant or employee because of political or religious opinions or affiliations, or race, 

and no offer or promise or reward, favor, or benefit, directly or indirectly, shall be made to or 

received by any person for any act done or duty omitted or to be done under these civil service 

rules and regulations. 

 

305. Age Qualifications  

Applicants for a position in the Police Department must be at least twenty-one (21) years 

of age as of the date of their application. 

 

306. General Qualifications - Applicants for Police Officer  

Every applicant for any position in the Police Department shall possess a diploma from an 

accredited high school or a graduate equivalency diploma. In addition, every applicant must 

be a United States citizen, physically and mentally fit to perform the full duties of a police 

officer and possess a valid motor vehicle operator’s license , and must have received a diploma 

from a certified Act 120 school (or out-of-state equivalent), on or before the date the 

Commission certifies the applicant from an eligibility list to fill vacancies under Section 3—

Vacancy Procedures of these Rules and Regulations. After the appointing authority selects an 

applicant for appointment to a vacant position, the applicant must take and pass any required 

Act 120 examination for certification and receive an Act 120 number and identification card.  

Out-of-state applicants currently employed as a police officer of another state must 

successfully complete the waiver procedures outlined in applicable MPOETC regulations (37 

PA. Code 203.12, as may be amended from time to time) prior to commencing employment 

with the Brough. At the time of application, each Applicant for appointment to the position of Police 

Officer must satisfy all of the following requirements: (i) be a citizen of the United States, (ii) possess 

a high school diploma or GED, (iii) be physically and mentally fit to perform all of the essential 

functions of a Police Officer, and (iv) be currently licensed to operate a motor vehicle in the state in 

which the applicant then resides (such license may not have been suspended or restored within three 

(3) years of the deadline for receipt of applications). Successful completion of Act 120 training and 

current eligibility for certification by the M.P.O.E.T.C must be satisfied and proof thereof presented 

to the Commission by no later than the date on which the Commission approves the eligibility list 

pursuant to Section 803. The Commission will work with the Borough Manager or his/her designee 

to contact applicants who do not provide proof of successful completion of Act 120 training and 

current eligibility for certification by the M.P.O.E.T.C with their application to permit them 

Bellefonte Borough Council Packet February 3, 2025

Page 113 of 143



{DocNo=01086226.1 } 10 

 

reasonable time to provide such proof prior to the scheduled meeting date where the Commission is 

expected to approve the eligibility list pursuant to Section 803.  

 

307. Filing Applications  

Applications for a position as a Police Officer in the Police Department shall be available at 

the Borough Building only after an Examination has been properly advertised. Completed 

applications for appointment to the position of Police Officer may be received at any time prior to 

the deadline for submitting applications in the office of the Borough Manager during regular business 

hours. 

 

 

 

308. Application Fee 

At the time of filing of an application, each Applicant may be required to pay a nonrefundable 

fee in an amount set by resolution of Council. Said application fee shall be used exclusively for the 

purpose of defraying the costs to the Borough in conducting and administering the examination 

process. Said application fee may be eliminated, decreased, or increased, from time to time, by 

motion or resolution of Borough Council. 

 

309. Recording Applications  

All timely applications received by the Borough Manager or his designee, or the designated 

representative for any joint application process and/or joint testing program selected by Council, 

shall be stamped or marked as to the date and time received. All timely applications so received shall, 

within 72 hours of the close of the application period, be submitted to the Secretary of the Civil 

Service Commission (Secretary), or the Commission itself if it so elects. The Secretary and/or the 

Civil Service Commission shall review each timely application so received to determine if any 

material errors or omissions exist in the application. Any application determined to have obvious 

material errors or omissions shall not be considered by the Commission, shall not be returned by the 

Commission to the Applicant, nor shall it be numbered and recorded by the Commission. Each 

completed application received by the Secretary or the Civil Service Commission shall then be 

numbered and recorded in the order in which it was received. In recording the complete applications, 

a note shall be entered whether veteran status is claimed by the applicant and whether the Applicant 

has requested a reasonable accommodation of a disability in the application or examination process. 

 

310. Disqualification/Rejection of Applicant 

A. The Commission may refuse to examine, or if examined, may refuse to certify as 

eligible any Applicant who is found to lack any of the minimum qualifications prescribed in these 

Rules and Regulations for examination for the position for which the applicant has applied. 

 

B. The Commission may also refuse to examine, or if examined, may refuse to certify 

as eligible, any Applicant who is determined to have submitted an application, a Polygraph Screening 

Booklet, responses or lack thereof during a Polygraph Examination, or written or oral 

communications in the Background Investigation containing falsifications, omissions, or non-

disclosure of material fact. Should the investigation disclose any falsification, omission, or non-

disclosure of material fact the Commission may take any one or more of the following actions: 

 

(i) Decline the application and disqualify the applicant; 

Bellefonte Borough Council Packet February 3, 2025

Page 114 of 143



{DocNo=01086226.1 } 11 

 

(ii) If the Applicant has been examined, remove the name of the Applicant from 

the eligibility list; 

(iii) If the Applicant shall have been appointed, deliberate falsification, omission, 

or non-disclosure of a material fact shall constitute grounds for immediate 

dismissal from the Police Department. 

(iv) Any person who submits any application containing any deliberate falsification, 

omission, or non-disclosure of a material fact shall not be permitted to submit 

any future application for any position in the Police Department. 

 

C. The Commission may refuse to examine, or if examined, may refuse to certify, any 

applicant who is physically or mentally unfit to perform the essential functions and duties of the 

position for which he or she has applied, who is illegally using controlled substances as defined in 

Section 102 of the Controlled Substances Act, 21 U.S.C. §802, addicted to the habitual use of 

intoxicating liquors, has been guilty of any crime involving moral turpitude, or of infamous or 

notoriously disgraceful conduct; has been dismissed from public service for delinquency or 

misconduct of office or is affiliated with any group whose policies or activities are subversive to the 

form of government enumerated in the Constitution and the laws of the United States and the 

Commonwealth. 

 

D. The Commission may refuse to examine, or if examined, may refuse to certify, any 

applicant for actions, inactions, performance, or conduct which, though not committed while 

employed by the Borough, would constitute a violation of the Borough’s or the Borough’s Police 

Department’s policies and/or procedures.  

 

311.     Hearing for Rejected or Disqualified Applicants  

A.  Any Applicant who believes that he or she is aggrieved by the action(s) of the 

Commission in refusing to examine or refusing to certify them as eligible after examination may 

request a hearing before the Commission. The Applicant must request such hearing in writing within 

ten (10) calendar days of the date that Applicant knew or should have known of the Commission’s 

action which is being challenged. 

 

B. Within ten (10) days of the Commission’s receipt of a request for a hearing, the 

Commission shall designate the date, time and place for the hearing. At the hearing, the applicant or 

person aggrieved may appear, with or without counsel, and the Commission shall take testimony and 

review its refusal to provide examination or certification. 

 

C. The deliberations of the Commission, including interim rulings on evidentiary or 

procedural issues, may be held in the nature of a closed executive session. The Commission’s 

disposition of the matter shall constitute an official action that shall occur at a public meeting held 

under 65 Pa.C.S. Chapter 7 (relating to Open Meetings). 

 

D. The decision by the Commission on the appeal shall be final. 

  

Bellefonte Borough Council Packet February 3, 2025

Page 115 of 143



{DocNo=01086226.1 } 12 

 

ARTICLE IV. ANNOUNCEMENT OF EXAMINATIONS  

 

401.     Sequence of the Selection Process  

To ensure the proper order of the selection process, the following sequence of events shall 

be followed in the selection of police officers: 

 

(a) A completed application is submitted and reviewed to determine if the required 

qualifications are apparently satisfied; 

(b) Written Examination; Physical Ability/Agility Examination; 

(c) Physical Ability/Agility Examination; Written Examination; 

(d) Oral Examination; 

(e) Approval of Eligibility List per Rule 803 

(f) Polygraph Examination 

(g) Background Investigation; 

(h) Provision of the Certified List of (up to) Three Candidates per Rule 1104 

(i) Interviews by Borough Council 

(j) Conditional Offer of Employment by Council and Act 57 of 2020 MPOETC 

Separation Records Request; 

(k) Medical and Psychological Examinations; 

(l) Probationary Employment; 

(m) Permanent Appointment. 

 

402. Public Notice 

Public notice soliciting applications for the position of Police Officer shall be published once 

in a newspaper of general circulation within the Borough of Bellefonte at least two (2) weeks before 

each examination. A copy of the notice shall also be prominently posted in a conspicuous place in 

the Borough Municipal Center. At the discretion of the Commission, additional public notice may 

be given by such means as the Commission may decide. Such notice shall specify the date, time, and 

place of the Examination, together with information as to the type of position to be filled, where 

applications may be obtained for the examination and the deadline for the submission of applications. 

 

403. Notice of Physical Ability/Agility Examination  

Applicants who timely submit a properly completed application will be given written notice 

by email (at an email address provided by the applicant on the application for the purpose of receiving 

notices related to the testing/hiring process) or, at the option of the Commission, by regular first class 

mail of the date, time and place of the physical ability/agility examination. No further notice of the 

physical ability/agility examination will be given. Any Applicant who has failed to properly complete 

their application form will not be permitted to take the physical ability/agility examination. Failure 

to report for an examination in accordance with the instructions contained in the written notice shall 

disqualify the Applicant. Any Applicant who desires to request a reasonable accommodation 

applicable to the physical ability/agility testing should submit such request at least five (5) business 

days prior to the scheduled examination date. Such request must be in writing and be delivered to the 

Commission's Secretary at the Borough’s Administrative Office. Any request for a reasonable 

accommodation shall set forth all the reasons for the Applicant’s request for such accommodation 

and, where appropriate, include a physician’s statement certifying the need and reasons for the 

requested accommodation. The Commission shall review all requests for a reasonable 

accommodation in accordance with applicable law. Failure to follow this procedure may disqualify 

Bellefonte Borough Council Packet February 3, 2025

Page 116 of 143



{DocNo=01086226.1 } 13 

 

the Applicant who believes he/she cannot take the physical ability/agility test without a reasonable 

accommodation or result in the denial of the requested accommodation. 

  

Bellefonte Borough Council Packet February 3, 2025

Page 117 of 143



{DocNo=01086226.1 } 14 

 

ARTICLE V. PHYSICAL ABILITY/AGILITY EXAMINATION 

  

501.     The Physical Ability/Agility Examination  

In order for the Borough of Bellefonte is assured that all Applicants have the basic physical 

abilities and conditioning required to perform the essential functions of positions in the Police 

Department, a physical ability/agility examination shall be given by a testing agency appointed by 

the Commission. The physical ability/agility examination shall be job-related and consistent with 

business necessity and shall be designed to impose an equal burden of compliance on both male and 

female applicants, requiring the same level of physical fitness for each. An applicant for the position 

of Police Officer shall be evaluated to determine physical fitness using the standards developed by 

the Cooper Institute for Aerobics Research. Each applicant shall score no lower than the 30th 

percentile of the Cooper standards for the person’s age and gender, which coincides with the 30th 

percentile of the general population, in each of the required evaluations to be eligible for 

employment.. The required evaluations shall be consistent with what is required for entrance to a 

Certified Municipal Police Academy by the MPOETC. This examination is not a medical 

examination and differs from the Medical/Psychological Examinations that are conducted only after 

a conditional offer of employment is made. The physical ability/agility examination consists of job-

related physical activities to be specified by the Commission prior to advertising of the examination. 

Candidates who fail to successfully complete the physical ability/agility examination shall be 

ineligible to continue in the examination process. 

 

  

Bellefonte Borough Council Packet February 3, 2025

Page 118 of 143



{DocNo=01086226.1 } 15 

 

ARTICLE VI. THE WRITTEN EXAMINATION  

 

601. Admission to Examination  

All applicants who meet the basic qualifications and have successfully passed the physical 

ability/agility examination will be notified of their eligibility to take the written examination. The 

notification document shall serve as the Applicant's admission card to the written examination. The 

Applicant shall sign the card. This procedure shall be followed at each segment of the examination 

process. In order to be admitted to the written examination, the Applicant must possess and show 

either a valid state driver's license and/or a federal identification card, containing his/her photograph 

and other descriptive information. The examiner or his designated agent shall record the operator 

number, or other confirming data from the federal identification card on the notification card, together 

with the applicant's name and address. 

 

602. Type of Examination  

The written examination shall be designed and is intended to test the knowledge and non-

physical ability of the applicants to perform and to be trained to perform the essential functions of 

the position. The design and content of the written examination may be altered from time to time; 

however, it shall be practical in character and shall relate to such matters and include such inquiries 

as will fairly test the merit and fitness of the persons examined to discharge the duties of a Police 

Officer. 

 

603. Administration of Examination  

The Commission may designate any qualified testing or examining body or agency to act 

as an examiner for the written examination. The Commission reserves the right to accept or reject, 

in whole or in part, the recommendations of its appointed testing or examining body or agency. 

 

604. Written Examination Scores  

The written examination will be scored on a scale of 100 points and will be afforded a 

weight of forty seventy (740%) percent of the Applicant’s final total average weighted score. The 

minimum passing score for the written examination shall be the seventy-five (705%) percent. Any 

Applicant who scores less than 705% shall be disqualified from further participation in the 

examination process. Within thirty (30) days after the administration of the written examination, 

all Applicants shall be given written notice of their score on the written examination. As soon as 

possible after the completion of the written examination, the Secretary, or his designee, shall 

prepare a list of Applicants who received a passing score on the written examination. The names 

shall be arranged from the highest score to the lowest passing score and the list shall include each 

applicant’s score. In the event that two (2) or more applicants receive the same score, the order 

of listing of such persons shall be determined by the order in which the applications were 

numbered for recording purposes. Achieving a place on this list makes the Applicant eligible for 

the oral examination. The list of those eligible for the oral examination shall be posted in the 

office of the Borough of Bellefonte and in a conspicuous place in the Borough Municipal Building. 

  

Bellefonte Borough Council Packet February 3, 2025

Page 119 of 143



{DocNo=01086226.1 } 16 

 

ARTICLE VII. THE ORAL EXAMINATION  

 

701.    Oral Examination Board  

The Oral Examination Board for Applicants for the position of Police Officer may be 

comprised of the following: 

 

(a)  At least two (2) A member of the Civil Service Commission; 

(b) Representatives of command rank from local law enforcement agencies 

recommended by the Chief of Police and approved by the Commission; and, 

(c) The Chief of Police. 

 

702. Admission to the Examination  

An invitation to participate in the oral examination is contingent upon passing of the written 

examination. An invitation to participate in the oral examination will be sent to all Applicants who 

received a passing score on the written examination. The Commission may conduct the oral 

examination of Applicants in any order it deems appropriate. 

 

703. Administration of the Oral Examination  

The oral examination will be scored on a scale of 100 points and will be afforded a weight 

of sixty thirty (360%) percent of the Applicant’s final total average weighted score. A minimum 

passing score on the oral examination shall be seventy-five (570%) percent. Applicants shall be 

rated by each member of the Oral Examination Board on a rating form provided for that purpose. 

During the oral examination, all Applicants should be asked the same questions and/or presented 

with the same hypotheticals which should be determined in advance of the examinations. 

Applicants shall be scored for the content and relevance of their answers/responses. Upon 

completion of the rating form by each member of the Oral Examination Board, the forms shall be 

collected, tallied, and recorded by the Secretary, or his or her designee. The average of the ratings 

by each board member shall constitute the Applicant's score on the oral examination. Members of 

the Oral Examination Board should keep notes on the rating form and the rating forms shall be 

kept for five (5) years after completion of the examination. Upon completion of the scoring of the 

oral examinations, the Secretary, or his or her designee, shall list, in order of ranking, the 

Applicant's name and score on the oral examination. A copy of the list shall be provided to the 

Civil Service Commission. Any Applicant who receives a score of less than 70% on the oral 

examination shall be disqualified from further participation in the examination process. 

 

704.     Improper Conduct 

Should any Applicant conduct himself/herself in any manner during the course of the 

selection process so as to defeat the proper intent, conduct, or course of the examination process, 

his/her name shall be removed from the examination process and the Applicant shall not be 

permitted to make any future application for any position in the police department. The right to a 

hearing by any aggrieved applicant shall be as set forth in §312 above. 

 

  

Bellefonte Borough Council Packet February 3, 2025

Page 120 of 143



{DocNo=01086226.1 } 17 

 

ARTICLE VIII. ELIGIBILITY LIST  

 

801. Examination Scores 

As soon as possible after the completion of all oral examinations for initial appointment as 

Police Officer, the Secretary of the Commission, or his or her designee, shall prepare a list of all 

Applicants, which list shall include each Applicant's name and his/her written score, oral score, and 

total average weighted score. The list shall be prepared promptly following the completion of the 

oral examination by the Oral Examination Board. Each Applicant shall receive written notice of their 

written and oral examination results, their Veterans Preference Points, if any, and the final total 

average weighted score. 

 

802. Veterans’ Preference  

Pursuant to the Veterans’ Preference Act, as amended by Act 102 of 2020, any applicant for 

an entry-level position in the Police Department who has achieved passing scores on each component 

of the testing process (i.e. physical agility test, written examination, and oral examination) and who 

qualifies as a military veteran under this Act shall receive an additional ten (10) points on top of their 

total weighted average score. Applicants claiming veterans’ preference shall have submitted 

satisfactory proof of service through the submission of discharge papers or separation documents (a 

DD214, DD215, or NGB-22 form), or statement of service, as that term is defined in the Act, to the 

Borough with their application form. When selecting candidates from the certified list of three, where 

one of the three candidates is a veteran under the Veterans' Preference Act, Borough Council must 

select that individual for appointment. Where more than one of the candidates on the certified list of 

three is a veteran, Council may select any of the candidates having veteran status. 

 

803. Preparation of Eligibility List  

Upon completion of the written and oral examinations, the Secretary, or his/her designee, 

shall prepare an eligibility list upon which shall appear the names of each applicant who received a 

passing score on both the written and oral examinations and whether that applicant has veteran status. 

The names on the eligibility list shall be arranged, from the highest to the lowest, in order of the final 

total weighted average score (written exam score, plus oral exam score, plus veteran's preference 

points) received by each applicant. The eligibility list shall be filed in the office of the Borough 

Manager, and a copy shall be posted in a conspicuous place in the Borough Municipal Center. 

 

804. Duration of the Eligibility List 

The eligibility list shall be valid for a period of one (1) year from the date the Commission 

formally adopts the eligibility list. Prior to the expiration of the one-year period, the Commission 

may extend the validity of the eligibility list for up to an additional twelve (12) months by a majority 

vote of the Commission at a duly authorized Commission meeting. In the absence of a lawful 

extension by the Commission, the list shall expire at the end of the original one (1) year period. The 

Borough Council may, at its sole discretion, void an eligibility list at any time for any reason. 

 

805.     Furlough List 

If for reasons of economy or other reasons, it shall be deemed necessary by the Borough to 

reduce the number of its full-time Police Officers, such reduction shall be accomplished by 

furloughing in reverse order of seniority in the Department, beginning with the police officer last 

appointed, including probationers, until such reduction shall have been accomplished. This provision 

shall not apply to the Chief of Police, or other designee of the Borough to serve as the head of the 

Bellefonte Borough Council Packet February 3, 2025

Page 121 of 143



{DocNo=01086226.1 } 18 

 

Police Department. In the event that the Borough subsequently decides to increase the size of the 

Police Department, the furloughed Police Officers shall be reinstated in order of their seniority in 

the Department. Police Officers notified of reinstatement shall accept reinstatement in writing and 

deliver the same to the Borough offices within ten (10) days of such notice, or such offer of 

reinstatement shall be deemed rejected. 

 

 

  

Bellefonte Borough Council Packet February 3, 2025

Page 122 of 143



{DocNo=01086226.1 } 19 

 

ARTICLE IX. POLYGRAPH EXAMINATION AND BACKGROUND INVESTIGATION   

 

901.    Polygraph Examination  

a. The top three candidates from the Commission’s certified eligibility list shall undergo a 

polygraph test by a qualified polygraph examiner who shall be appointed by the 

Commission.  In the event of more than one (1) vacancy is to be filled, a number of the 

highest ranked candidates equal to the number of vacancies to be filled, plus the next two (2) 

highest ranked candidates, shall also undergo the polygraph test.  Every candidate required 

to undergo a polygraph examination under these Rules and Regulations shall 

comprehensively and honestly complete a personal data questionnaire as provided by the 

polygraph examiner.    

a. The report on each examination shall be submitted to the Commission within ten (10) days 

after the date of the examination except in the instance of extenuating circumstances.    

a. The examiner shall ask questions based on the information contained in the personal data 

questionnaire.    

a. Before administering the test, the examiner shall ask each applicant whether there is any 

more information related to the personal data questionnaire that the applicant would like to 

provide.    

a. After administering the test, the examiner shall again ask the applicant, if deception is 

indicated, whether there is any information which the applicant is withholding.    

a. If the examiner shall deem any of the applicant’s responses to be deceptive, the examiner 

must tell the applicant immediately and give the applicant an opportunity to explain, deny or 

admit the deception. If the applicant denies being deceptive or if the explanation is found 

unsatisfactory by the examiner, the applicant will be given the opportunity to retake the test 

with a second examiner. Notice of the opportunity to retest shall be given in writing to the 

applicant at the applicant’s cost. The second examiner will not have access to the results of 

the first test prior to re-administering the polygraph. If the second examiner finds no 

deception, the applicant will be considered as having passed the polygraph examination. If 

the second examiner also finds the applicant deceptive, the applicant will be considered as 

having failed the examination.  

                          

901. Background Investigation  

An investigation of character and background of the top scoring eligible applicant the top scoring 

eligible applicants who have successfully completed the polygraph examination process shall be 

conducted by a person, entity or agency approved and appointed by the Commission. The background 

investigation shall be in compliance, at a minimum, with the guidelines established by the MPOETC 

and Act 57 of 2020, as required by law. The applicant shall be required to execute an authorization 

and release for the disclosure of employment information from the applicant’s former employing 

law enforcement agencies in the Commonwealth on a standard form promulgated by MPOETC, 

which shall also be signed by the Borough’s Chief of Police, or other designee of the Borough to 

serve as the head of the Police Department. The “Authority to Release” portion of the application 

form must have been completed by the applicant. The background investigation shall include, at a 

minimum, the following: 

 

(a) A criminal history check, including the submission of fingerprints to the State Police 

Central Repository and the Federal Bureau of Investigation. 

(b) A check of the applicant’s credit history. 

Bellefonte Borough Council Packet February 3, 2025

Page 123 of 143



{DocNo=01086226.1 } 20 

 

(c) Personal interviews with at least three people who have personal knowledge of the 

applicant but are not related to the applicant, nor are a member of the applicant’s 

household. 

(d) Interviews of the applicant’s employers, if any, for the past five (5) years to determine 

the applicant’s work history. 

(e) A review of the applicant’s employment information from each previous law enforcement 

employer to determine the applicant’s law enforcement work history. 

(f) A check of the applicant’s driving history that includes a review of all traffic violations 

and verifications that the applicant has a valid driver’s license. 

(g) A verification of the applicant’s eligibility to lawfully possess a firearm, as required by 

law.  

 

A background investigation may also include interviews with the applicant’s family, 

acquaintances, current and former neighbors, references, and current and former teachers and school 

officials. The applicant may be interviewed directly when the information collected during the 

background investigation requires clarification or explanation. 

 

902.      Fingerprinting  

Those applicants selected from the eligibility list shall be fingerprinted. The fingerprint 

cards shall be distributed to the Federal Bureau of Investigation, the Pennsylvania State Police, and 

the Borough of Bellefonte Police Department. 

 

903.   Conduct of Background Investigation  

In addition to the review of employment information and separation records required by 

Act 57 of 2020, the background investigation of applicants selected from the eligibility list also may 

include, but not be limited to, the following areas: 

 

(a) Biographical Data – Verify name and birth information through birth, educational, 

military, and employment records. Interview the wife/husband or parents of the 

applicant. 

(b) Education - Verify the amount and kind of education through actual examination of 

school records if the school is nearby. Check school disciplinary records: Verify 

college credits by having the applicant submit a notarized certified transcript. 

(c) Military - Require the applicant to submit a copy of his service record and discharge 

certificate. Applicants shall provide a certified member copy 4 of DD214. 

(d) Employment - Verify previous employment, listing reference information on a 

confidential basis. When possible, conduct a personal interview with the present 

employer, supervisor, and associates. Use the release and waiver of liability form 

signed by the applicant. 

(e) Prior Employment - Ascertain the applicant’s reason for leaving prior employers. 

Use the release and waiver of liability form signed by the applicant. 

(f) Residence - Conduct a neighborhood investigation by conversing with neighbors 

concerning the candidate's habits, conduct, and reputation. Use the release and 

waiver of liability form signed by the applicant. 

(g) Police - Check criminal records of federal, state, and local police agencies. Check 

with the state drivers' licensing agency for traffic violations and accidents. 

Bellefonte Borough Council Packet February 3, 2025

Page 124 of 143



{DocNo=01086226.1 } 21 

 

Excessive and/or serious traffic violations chargeable against the applicant may be 

sufficient to disqualify a candidate. 

(h) References - Interview local references provided by the applicant, and obtain an 

interview with at least three references developed from them. Write letters to the 

out-of-state references. Use the release and waiver of liability form signed by the 

applicant. Where in-person interviews are not reasonably practicable, interviews 

may be conducted virtually or by phone. 

(i) Credit Reports – Obtain reports from one or more credit reporting bureaus. 

(j) Taxes and Utilities. - Check with the appropriate municipality to ensure applicant 

has paid local taxes and utilities. 

(k) Judgments - Check state and federal court dockets to determine whether there are 

judgments against the applicant. 

(l) The background check shall also comply with the standards for such checks 

established through regulations of the MPOETC. 

 

904.  Results of Background Investigation  

After the background investigation is completed, the results shall be provided to the 

Commission. The Chief of Police, or other designee of the Borough to serve as the head of the Police 

Department shall make a written recommendation to the Commission on whether the applicant is fit 

for consideration for appointment as a police officer. The Commission shall make the final 

determination on whether the information collected during the background investigation and 

recommendation of the Chief of Police, or other designee of the Borough to serve as the head of the 

Police Department, warrant rejection of the candidate. The “fitness” of the applicant shall be based 

on the criteria set forth in these Rules and Regulations and the regulations of the MPOETC. The 

recommendation shall be in writing and shall be in compliance with the Americans with Disabilities 

Act, and must not include any medical information on the candidate. If the recommendation is to 

disqualify, then a detailed written explanation of the reasons for disqualification must be included. 

If the Commission objects to one or more of the persons certified, based on the results of the 

background investigation, the Applicant shall be notified that his or her name will be removed from 

the eligibility list subject to the Applicant’s right to appeal pursuant to Section 312 of these Rules 

and Regulations. 
 

905.    Rejection of Applicant 

In addition to the reasons set forth in Section 310 above, an applicant may be rejected for 

any one or more of the following, or where applicable, events or occurrences of like or similar 

matters: 

 

(a) Arrest and conviction for any felony, misdemeanor, or summary offense as defined 

in Title 18 of the Pennsylvania Crimes Code and/or Military Code of Conduct. 

(b) Release from any military or civilian police department for infractions that would 

amount to a crime but were not prosecuted, or for actions, inactions, or conduct 

which, though not committed while employed as a police officer, could result in 

discipline if engaged in by a member of the ____________ Police Department. 

(c) Release from any civilian police department during probation. 

(d) History of excessive gambling loss. 

(e) Failure to remain current in the payment of all taxes of any type. 

(f) Failure to provide support for minor children. 

Bellefonte Borough Council Packet February 3, 2025

Page 125 of 143



{DocNo=01086226.1 } 22 

 

(g) Failure to provide support to a dependent spouse. 

(h) Evidence of present improper use of controlled substances· as defined in schedules 

I through V of Section 202 of The Controlled Substances Act (21 U.S.C. § 812). 

(i) History of association, unless duties through criminal justice system required such 

association, with known criminals or “organized crime figures”. 

 

  

Bellefonte Borough Council Packet February 3, 2025

Page 126 of 143



{DocNo=01086226.1 } 23 

 

ARTICLE X. PROMOTIONS IN THE POLICE DEPARTMENT  

1001.     Promotional Process  

The sequence of events will be followed in the promotional process. The process shall be 

as follows: 

 

(a) Application 

(b) Written Examination 

(c) Oral Examination 

(d) Conditional Appointment 

(e) Probation 

(f) Permanent Appointment 

 

1002.     Application   

An application for promotion, on a form provided by the Commission for such purpose, 

shall be filed with the Secretary by each applicant for a promotional position. The application which 

will set forth the qualifications necessary to apply for the promotional position, must be completed 

and submitted during the time period and place set forth in the notice. 

 

1003.       Eligibility for Examinations 

    All applicants for a promotional position, except the Chief of Police or other designee of 

the Borough to serve as the head of the Police Department, shall not have been suspended without 

pay or have received a formal reprimand within the one (1) year prior to the deadline for submitting 

an application for the promotional position. Any formal suspension which the applicant has timely 

appealed pursuant to either the grievance procedure or the appeal process established under these 

rules and regulations shall be disregarded unless the appeal is finally resolved prior to the creation 

of the eligibility list. 

 

 Police Sergeant/Corporal: At the time of application, all applicants for the promotional 

position of Police Sergeant/Corporal shall have at least five (5) years of full-time service as a police 

officer with at least three (3) years of continuous prior service as a Full-Time Police Officer in the 

Bellefonte Borough Police Department.  

 

 Police Assistant Chief/Lieutenant: At the time of application, all applicants for the 

promotional position of Police Assistant Chief/ Lieutenant shall have at least seven (7) years of 

continuous prior service as a Full-Time Police Officer in the Bellefonte Borough Police Department.  

 

1004.     Administration of the Examinations  

The Commission may designate any qualified testing or examining body or agency to 

develop and/or administer testing instruments, both written and non-written. 

 

1005.     Written Examination  

All examinations for promotion shall be practical in character and shall relate to such 

matters and include such inquiries as will fairly test the merit and fitness of the persons examined 

to discharge the duties of the position sought by them and may include a test of police knowledge 

and performance and a test to measure knowledge of supervisory and command responsibility. The 

minimum passing score on the written examination is seventy (70%) percent. 

 

Bellefonte Borough Council Packet February 3, 2025

Page 127 of 143



{DocNo=01086226.1 } 24 

 

1006.     Oral Examination Board  

The Oral Examination Board for applicants for promotional positions in the Bellefonte 

Police Department shall be composed of (i) at least one member of the Civil Service Commission; 

(ii) two representatives of command rank from local law enforcement entities recommended by the 

Chief of Police and appointed and/or approved by the Commission; and (iii) the Chief of Police. 

The oral examination shall involve questioning applicants on how they would handle the situations 

relevant to police work for the promotional position to which they are applying. The oral 

examination will also involve the applicant presenting a 10-minute presentation on a topic 

designated by the Chief of Police. 

 

1007.  Oral Examination  

Applicants shall be rated by each member of the Promotional Oral Examination Board on a rating 

form provided for that purpose. Upon completion of the rating form by each board member, the 

forms shall be collected, tallied, and recorded by the Secretary, or his/her designee. The average of 

the ratings by each member of the Promotional Oral Examination Board shall constitute the 

applicant’s score on the oral examination. Members of the Promotional Oral Examination Board 

shall keep notes on their rating form and their rating forms shall be maintained by the secretary for 

two years after the examination. Upon completion of all oral examinations, the Secretary, or his/her 

designee, shall list, in order of rating, the applicants' name and score on the oral examination. In 

the· oral examination, all applicants should be asked the same questions which should be 

determined in advance of the examinations. The minimum passing score on the oral examination 

is seventy-five (705%) percent. 

 

 

1008.     Promotional Examination Scores  

(a) The promotional examination shall be graded on a scale of one hundred (100) percent 

and shall be weighed as follows: 

 

1. For the written examination, a total of forty seventy (470) points; 

2. For the oral examination, a total of sixty thirty (630) points. 

 

(b)  An applicant must have a score of at least seventy-five (705%) percent in each of the 

above examinations to be eligible for promotion. 

 

1009.     Promotional List  

Upon completion of the examination process, the Secretary, or his/her designee shall 

prepare a promotional list for each position for which a vacancy exists. The names of each 

applicant who received passing grades on both the written and oral examinations shall be arranged 

on the promotional list from the highest to the lowest, in order of the final average weighted score 

received by each applicant. The promotional list shall be certified by the Civil Service Commission 

and filed in the office of the Borough Manager and a copy shall be posted in a conspicuous place 

in the Borough Municipal Center. 

 

1010.     Duration of the Promotional List 

The eligibility for promotion list shall remain valid for twelve (12) months from the date of 

its certification by the Civil Service Commission. 

  

Bellefonte Borough Council Packet February 3, 2025

Page 128 of 143



{DocNo=01086226.1 } 25 

 

ARTICLE XI. CERTIFICATION AND APPOINTMENT  

 

1101.    Filling Vacancies  

When a vacancy is to be filled for any position in the Police Department, Council, or its 

designee, shall submit a written request to the Commission for certification of eligible applicants. In 

making the request, the Council shall state the title of the position to be filled and the compensation 

to be paid, and the fringe benefits allotted for the position. 

 

1102.    Filling Appointments  

A.       Borough Council may fill any vacancy in an existing position in the Police 

Department which occurs as a result of expansion of the police force, retirement, resignation, 

disability, or death by the reappointment or reinstatement of a former employee of the police 

department who previously complied with the civil service rules and regulations. (Note: Such 

events create vacancies only when Borough Council has concluded that this is the case.) 

Furloughed police officers shall be given first consideration for re-employment and they shall be 

reinstated in order of their seniority. No examination, other than the physical and psychological 

examinations as directed by the Commission and a post-offer separation record request under Act 

57, shall be required for reappointment or reinstatement. If more than one vacancy is to be filled, 

the Commission shall certify from the top of the list that the number of names is equal to the 

number of vacancies to be filled in the order of seniority in the Police Department. 

 

B.       The Commission shall provide written notice by email or United States First Class 

Mail to any person certified as eligible for recall from the furlough or reinstatement list. Said 

notice shall state that the furloughed or reinstated officer has ten (10) days from the date of mailing 

of the notice to contact the Commission and indicate their acceptance of the recall from the 

furlough or reinstatement list. 

 

1103.     Removal of Names from Furlough or Eligibility Lists  

In addition to the other reasons stated as grounds for removal in these rules, the name of 

any person appearing on a furlough list or an eligibility list shall be removed from the relevant list 

by the Commission if such person: 

 

(a) Is appointed to a position as a police officer in the Borough; or 

(b) Declines an appointment to a permanent position as a Police Officer; or 

(c) Fails to reply to the Commission within ten (10) calendar days from the date of 

mailing/emailing of a notice of certification, or 

(d) Indicates availability for appointment and is appointed to fill a vacancy but fails to 

report for duty at the time prescribed by Council. 

(e) Requests in writing that their name be withdrawn from the list.  

 

1104.   Certification from Eligibility List and Appointment 

A.          If no furlough list exists, or if the total number of vacancies cannot be filled from 

the available names on the furlough list, the Commission shall certify names from the eligibility 

list. The Commission shall certify from the eligibility list the names of three persons thereon, or a 

lesser number where three are not available, who have received the highest total score. 

 

B. Each applicant certified to the eligibility list shall be interviewed by Council. 

Bellefonte Borough Council Packet February 3, 2025

Page 129 of 143



{DocNo=01086226.1 } 26 

 

C. Council may object to one or more of the persons certified for the reasons set forth 

in these Rules and Regulations. If the candidate to whom Council objects fails to timely exercise 

the rights of appeal, or if the Commission declines to uphold the appeal, the Commission shall 

strike the name of that candidate from the eligibility list and certify the next highest name for 

inclusion on the list of three candidates for each name stricken off. 

 

D. The Borough Council shall make a conditional appointment to a probationary 

position from one of the three names certified, with reference to the merits and fitness of the 

candidates. However, when one of the three applicants on the certified list is a veteran, that 

applicant shall be selected. If more than one of the applicants on the certified list is a veteran, 

Council may choose the successful applicant from among the veterans. When a candidate is 

conditionally appointed by Borough Council, the applicant shall be immediately notified of his 

conditional appointment by certified mail. The notice shall include the title of the position, the 

compensation to be paid, and the fringe benefits allotted and shall also state that the person 

appointed, to accept the conditional appointment, shall make a written reply, indicating acceptance 

of the conditional appointment, within seven (7) days from the receipt of such notice. Failure of the 

applicant to accept the conditional appointment within the stated period of seven (7) days shall be 

deemed a rejection of the conditional appointment. For the purposes of computing the seven (7) 

days, the postmark on the envelope containing the applicant’s response shall be controlling. The 

offer of employment to a probationary position will be conditional upon the applicant passing a 

medical and psychological examination and upon the applicant being available to begin Borough 

employment within a reasonable time frame as determined by Borough Council, which time frame 

cannot be arbitrary or capricious.  

  

Bellefonte Borough Council Packet February 3, 2025

Page 130 of 143



{DocNo=01086226.1 } 27 

 

ARTICLE XII. CONDITIONAL OFFER OF EMPLOYMENT – ACT 57 OF 2020 MPOETC 

SEPARATION RECORDS REQUEST AND PHYSICAL AND PSYCHOLOGICAL 

MEDICAL EXAMINATION 

 

1201.  Act 57 of 2020 MPOETC Separation Records Request 

After the Appointing Authority selects a candidate from the certified eligibility list for 

conditional appointment to the vacant position, the candidate will be notified of a conditional offer 

of employment and shall be required to provide a signed and notarized authorization for the release 

of separation records on a standard form promulgated by MPOETC. The Chief of Police, or designee 

of the Borough to serve as the head of the Police Department, shall first request separation records 

through the MPOETC Training and Certification System (“MPOETC TACS”) database, pursuant 

to Act 57 of 2020. The candidate may not proceed further in the application process until the 

separation record is obtained or a certification that no separation record exists is received from 

MPOETC. 

 

If separation record(s) sent from the MPOETC TACS database indicate that the conditional 

appointee has a history of either final and binding disciplinary action or a criminal conviction, or 

both, for any of the offenses enumerated below, and the Borough chooses not to disqualify the 

conditional appointee, the Borough must electronically submit a Hiring Report Form to MPOETC, 

on a standard form promulgated by MPOETC, within seven (7) days of the final hiring decision: 

 

A. Excessive Force 

B. Harassment 

C. Theft 

D. Discrimination  

E. Sexual abuse 

F. Sexual misconduct 

G. Domestic violence  

H. Coercion of a false confession 

I. Filing a false report 

J. Judicial finding of dishonesty 

 

If the Borough chooses not to disqualify the conditional appointee, the Hiring Report Form 

must include a notarized statement, signed by the Chief of Police or other designee of the Borough 

to serve as the head of the Police Department, explaining the reasoning and rationale for hiring the 

conditional appointee. 

 

The Hiring Report Form need not be submitted to MPOETC if no above-described separation 

history exists, or if the Borough decides to disqualify the conditional appointee due to the conditional 

appointee’s separation history. However, the Borough must notify MPOETC, in all instances, of the 

conditional appointee’s final employment status within seven (7) days of the final hiring decision. 

  

If a conditional appointee is disqualified based upon above-described separation history, the 

conditional appointee will be so notified and may appeal this decision under these rules and 

regulations. If the candidate fails to timely exercise the rights of appeal, or if the Commission 

declines to uphold the appeal, the Commission shall strike the name from the eligibility list and 

certify the next highest name for inclusion on the “certified list of three.” 

Bellefonte Borough Council Packet February 3, 2025

Page 131 of 143



{DocNo=01086226.1 } 28 

 

 If a conditional appointee is not disqualified at this stage, the conditional appointee shall be 

scheduled for the physical and psychological medical examination as set forth in Section 1203. 

 

1202.    Appointment of Physical and Psychological Examiners  

The selection of the physical/medical and psychological examiners shall be at the sole 

discretion of the Borough Council. All fees for the services of these examiners shall be the 

responsibility of the Borough. 

 

1203.    Medical and Psychological Examinations 

After the completion of the MPOETC Separation Records Request procedure set forth 

above, the conditional appointee shall submit to a physical and psychological examination. The 

offer of employment shall be conditioned upon the conditional appointee undergoing a physical and 

psychological medical examination and a determination that the conditional appointee is capable of 

performing all the essential functions of the position.  

 

 Physical medical examinations shall be conducted under the direction of a physician or other 

qualified medical professional. Psychological medical examinations shall be conducted under the 

direction of a psychiatrist or psychologist.  

 

The physician, or other qualified medical professional, psychiatrist, or psychologist must be 

appointed by Borough Council and shall render an opinion as to whether the conditional appointee 

has a physical or mental condition which calls into question the person’s ability to perform all of 

the essential functions of the position for which the person was conditionally appointed. 

 

 The physical and psychological exams will be conducted in compliance with the MPOETC 

regulations. In addition. The respective examiners will be given a copy of the job description and 

the "Essential Functions of the Job" for performing the duties of a police officer.  The completed 

forms will be certified by the examining physician(s) indicating that the candidate is physically or 

psychologically fit, as the case may be, to perform the duties of a police officer.  The completed 

forms shall be confidential and submitted to the Borough Manager or his/her designee for 

disposition. 

 

If the opinion rendered by the physician, other qualified medical professional, psychiatrist, 

or psychologist demonstrates no reason why the selectee cannot, with or without reasonable 

accommodation, perform all of the essential functions of the job, the selectee's appointment shall be 

finalized. If the candidate successfully passes the medical and psychological examinations, then that 

employee shall be appointed to the vacant position in the Police Department for which the 

application was submitted.  

 

If the opinion rendered by the physician, other qualified medical professional, psychiatrist, 

or psychologist calls into question the conditional appointee’s ability to perform all essential 

functions of a position, the person designated by council shall meet with the conditional appointee 

for the purpose of having one or more interactive discussions on whether the conditional appointee 

can, with or without reasonable accommodation, perform all the essential functions of the position. 

 If, at the conclusion of the interactive discussions conducted under these rules and regulations, 

council determines that the conditional appointee is not qualified, council shall give written notice 

to the conditional appointee and the Commission. 

Bellefonte Borough Council Packet February 3, 2025

Page 132 of 143



{DocNo=01086226.1 } 29 

 

 The rejected candidate may appeal this decision under Section 312 of these rules. If the 

candidate fails to timely exercise their rights of appeal, or if the Commission declines to uphold the 

appeal, the Commission shall strike the name from the certified eligibility list and then certify 

another name to be included with the two previously certified names for consideration by the 

appointing authority pursuant to Section 1104 of these rules.  

 

 Nothing in this section shall be construed to authorize physical or psychological medical 

examinations prior to conditional appointment.  

  

Bellefonte Borough Council Packet February 3, 2025

Page 133 of 143



{DocNo=01086226.1 } 30 

 

ARTICLE XIII. PROBATIONARY PERIOD  

 

1301.      Probationary Period  

A. Entry Level Police Officer  

An appointment as an entry-level Police Officer shall be for a probationary period of 

twelve (12) months. Immediately upon commencement of the probationary period, any 

probationer who did not hold a Pennsylvania motor vehicle operator’s license at the time of 

application shall apply for a Pennsylvania motor vehicle operator’s license. Failure to promptly 

acquire such license shall be cause for the probationers’ performance to be deemed 

unsatisfactory. 

 

During the probationary period, a newly hired police officer may be dismissed only for 

cause as set forth in Section 1186 (a) of the Borough Code or because of incapacity for duty due to 

the use of alcohol or drugs, or due to a violation of the Borough’s policies and/or procedures. 

 

 Throughout the probationary period, the Chief of Police, or other designee of the Borough 

to serve as the head of the Police Department, shall monitor the performance and general 

acceptability of each probationer under his supervision to determine whether such probationer is 

fully qualified for permanent appointment. The Chief of Police, or other designee of the Borough 

to serve as the head of the Police Department, shall make a monthly report to the Mayor and Council 

on the performance and conduct of each probationer. In addition, the Chief of Police, or other 

designee of the Borough to serve as the head of the Police Department, shall issue a final report not 

less than fifteen (15) calendar days before the regular meeting of the Council immediately 

preceding the end of the probationary period 12 month probationary period which report shall 

include the recommendation of the Chief of Police, or other designee of the Borough to serve as 

the head of the Police Department, either to retain the probationer for permanent appointment or 

terminate the probationer at the conclusion of the 12 month probationary period. Such report shall 

be submitted to the Mayor and Council. 

 

At the conclusion of the twelve (12) month probationary period, if the conduct or fitness of 

the probationer has not been satisfactory to the Borough Council, the probationer shall be notified 

in writing that he will not receive a permanent appointment. Following receipt of this notice by the 

probationer, the entry-level probationary officer's employment shall end. Any officer who is not 

informed in writing that his/her performance has been unsatisfactory and that he/she will not 

receive a permanent appointment shall be deemed to have received a permanent appointment to the 

position. 

B. Promoted Police Officer  
A promoted Police Officer shall be on a probationary status during the twelve (12) months 

following his promotion. A promoted police officer may, at any time during the one-year 

probationary period, voluntarily return to his previous rank. A promoted officer may, during his 

promotional probationary period, be involuntarily returned to his previous rank when it is 

determined by Council that the promoted officer has demonstrated, through on-the-job 

performance, that he is not qualified for the position. This determination shall be communicated to 

the Police Officer in writing. Upon receipt of the written notice from Council that he/she has been 

involuntarily returned to his previous rank, the promoted officer may within ten (10) days of receipt 

of the written notice, appeal in writing to the Borough Manager by requesting, to the Borough 

Manager, that Council provide him with a Local Agency Law Hearing. Within ten (10) days after 

Bellefonte Borough Council Packet February 3, 2025

Page 134 of 143



{DocNo=01086226.1 } 31 

 

such request, the Commission shall designate a date, time, and place for the hearing which shall be 

conducted pursuant to the procedures set forth in the Local Agency Law. Any voluntary or forced 

reduction in rank shall result in the promoted officer being returned to his previous rank and status, 

at a salary based upon the reduced rank. 

 

1302.     Provisional Appointments  

Whenever there are urgent reasons for the filling of a vacancy in any position in the police 

department and there are no names on the eligibility list for such appointment, Council may, in 

accordance with 8 Pa.C.S. § 1187, nominate a person to the Commission for noncompetitive 

examination, and if such nominee shall be certified by the Commission as qualified after such non-

competitive examination, he may be appointed provisionally to fill such vacancy. Prior to being 

subject to a non-competitive test, the provisional appointee shall be subject to a post-offer 

separation record request under Act 57. The officer may then be appointed provisionally to fill such 

vacancy. It shall thereupon become the duty of the Commission within three (3) weeks of such 

provisional appointment to hold a competitive examination and other required tests and 

investigations. A list of eligible, certified list and a regular appointment shall then be made from 

the name or names submitted by the Commission in accordance with the rules and procedures set 

forth to appoint an applicant to the police force. Nothing herein contained shall prevent the 

appointment by the Mayor, without examination, of persons, temporarily as police officers in cases 

of riot or other emergency as authorized by 8 Pa.C.S. § 1187(b)(2). 

 

  

Bellefonte Borough Council Packet February 3, 2025

Page 135 of 143



{DocNo=01086226.1 } 32 

 

ARTICLE XIV. REMOVAL, SUSPENSION, AND REDUCTION IN RANK 

 

1401.    Cause for Removal, Suspension, and Reduction in Rank 

(a)       No Police Officer subject to these Civil Service Rules and Regulations shall be 

suspended, removed, or reduced in rank until they have first been provided with a 

Loudermill hearing. 

 

(b) As required by §1190 of the Borough Code (8 Pa.C.S. § 1190), no police officer 

may be suspended without pay, removed, or reduced in rank except for the following 

reasons: 

 

(1) Physical or mental disability affecting his ability to continue in service, in 

which cases, the police officer shall receive an honorable discharge from 

service; 

(2) Neglect or violation of any official duty; 

(3) Violation of any law which provides that such violation constitutes a 

misdemeanor or felony; 

(4) Inefficiency, neglect of official duties, intemperance, immorality, 

disobedience of orders, or conduct unbecoming an officer; 

(5) Intoxication while on duty; 

(6) Engaging in or participating in the conduct of a political or election 

campaign while on duty or in uniform or while using borough property 

otherwise than to exercise the person’s own right of suffrage; 

(7) Engaging or participating in the conduct of a political or election campaign 

for an incompatible office as provided in section 1104(f) of the Borough 

Code relating to appointments and incompatible offices. 

 

1402.     Suspension Procedure 

(a) Borough Council may, subject to the civil service provisions of the Borough Code, 

and these Rules and Regulations, remove, suspend, or reduce in rank Borough police 

officers. 

 

(b) In addition, the Mayor may, for cause and without pay, suspend any police officer 

until the next succeeding regular meeting of Council, at which time or thereafter, 

the Council may, subject to the civil service provisions of the Borough Code, and 

these Rules and Regulations, suspend, discharge, reduce in rank or reinstate with 

pay, such Police Officer. A Police Officer suspended by the Mayor may not be 

reinstated by Council at a date earlier than ten (10) working days from the date fixed 

by the Mayor for the suspension to commence. In any case where the Council has 

reinstated a Police Officer after he/she has been suspended by the Mayor, the Mayor 

shall not thereafter suspend such individual for reasons arising from the same act 

for which the first suspension was made, or for reasons that Council, in reinstating 

such police officer shall have determined not to be grounds for suspension. See 

Borough Code §1124. 

 

 

 

Bellefonte Borough Council Packet February 3, 2025

Page 136 of 143



{DocNo=01086226.1 } 33 

 

1403.     Statement of Charges  

Whenever any permanent employee is suspended, removed, or demoted, a written 

statement of the specific charges warranting such action shall be approved and issued by the 

Borough Council. The charges shall be stated clearly and in sufficient detail to enable the person 

charged to understand the charges against him or her and to answer them. The written statement of 

charges shall be served on the person accused by personal service or certified mail. 

 

1404.    Hearing of Dismissals, Suspensions, and Reductions in Rank 

Any employee removed, suspended without pay, or reduced in rank may file with the Civil 

Service Commission a written demand for a hearing not later than ten (10) calendar days from the 

date upon which the statement of charges was received by the employee. The Commission shall 

grant a timely request for a hearing which hearing shall be conducted within a period of ten (10) 

days of the receipt of the request for the hearing unless continued for cause at the request of the 

Borough Council or the Employee. 

 

1405.     Conduct of Hearing  

The hearing shall be conducted in accordance with the provisions of the Local Agency 

Law, 2 Pa.C.S. §§ 551-555. Unless the Borough Council or the person sought to be suspended, 

removed, or reduced in rank requests that the proceedings before the Commission be open to the 

public, the proceedings before the Commission under this section shall be held in the nature of a 

closed executive session that shall not be open to the public. Any request for a public hearing shall 

be communicated to the Commission no less than five (5) days before the scheduled date of the 

hearing. The deliberations of the Commission, including any interim rulings on evidentiary or 

procedural issues, may be held in private. The Commission’s disposition of the disciplinary action 

shall constitute official action which shall occur at a public meeting held pursuant to 65 Pa.C.S. §§ 

701, et seq. (The Sunshine Act). 

 

1406.     Right to Counsel and Witness Testimony 

At any such hearing, the officer against whom the charges have been made may be present 

and represented by counsel and may call witnesses and present testimony and documentation in 

his defense. The Borough may also be represented by counsel, call witnesses, and present 

testimony and evidence to support the charges. All witness testimony shall be under oath. A 

stenographer’s record of all testimony shall be taken and preserved by the Commission. In the 

event that the charges are dismissed, the record shall be sealed and shall not be available for public 

inspection. 

 

1407.    Standard of Review  

In conducting the hearing, the Commission’s standard of review shall be to determine 

whether sufficient evidence has been presented to support any statutory grounds for the disciplinary 

action. If the Commission finds that sufficient evidence has been presented to support the charges, 

the Commission shall not alter the penalty unless it finds that the penalty imposed by the Borough 

is arbitrary, discriminatory, or an abuse of discretion. 

 

1408.    Decision of the Civil Service Commission  

The Commission may request from the Borough and employee the submission of post 

hearing briefs, which may be in the form of Proposed Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law. 

Within thirty (30) calendar days of the receipt of the post-hearing submissions, the Commission 

Bellefonte Borough Council Packet February 3, 2025

Page 137 of 143



{DocNo=01086226.1 } 34 

 

shall issue its decision in the form of a written order which shall include all findings of fact and 

conclusions of law upon which the decision is based. If, during the hearing, opposing facts are 

presented, the Commission shall include in its written decision and order, its decision as to the 

correct facts. The decision and order of the Commission must be adopted and announced at an 

advertised public meeting of the Commission. Adoption of the decision and order requires the 

affirmative vote of at least two members of the Commission. The decision and order of the 

Commission shall be served by United States First Class mail addressed to the officer and the 

Borough. 

 

1409.    Appeal to Court of Common Pleas  

All parties shall have an immediate right of appeal to the Court of Common Pleas of 

Allegheny County, pursuant to Sections 751-754 of the Local Agency Law. In accordance with 

Section _____ of the Borough Code, any appeal must be filed within thirty (30) days from the date 

of entry by the Commission of its final order. 

 

1410.     Dismissal of Charges  

In the event that the Commission shall fail to uphold the charges, the person sought to be 

suspended, removed, or reduced in rank shall be reinstated with full pay for the period during 

which the person was suspended, removed, or reduced in rank and no charges shall be officially 

recorded against the person’s record. The record of such proceedings shall be sealed and shall not 

be available for public inspection. 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Bellefonte Borough Council Packet February 3, 2025

Page 138 of 143



Bellefonte Borough Council Packet February 3, 2025

Page 139 of 143



ORDINANCE NO. 02032025-01 
 
AN ORDINANCE OF THE BOROUGH OF BELLEFONTE AMENDING THE 
CODIFIED BOOK OF ORDINANCES, CHAPTER 530: VEHICLE AND TRAFFIC. 
 
 Be it enacted and ordained by the Council of the Borough of Bellefonte and it is hereby 
enacted and ordained by the authority of the same. 
 
SPECIFIC PROVISIONS 
 
Amend Section 51 to read as follows: 
 

§ 530-51. Charges and restrictions. 

A. The charges and restrictions for parking are provided as follows: 

(1) Grey single-space meters: fifteen-minute increments for a fee established by 
Borough Council in the Borough's Fee Schedule, with the maximum parking 
period allowed of two hours. 

(2) Gold: represents a maximum parking period permitted of 15 minutes. The fee is 
established by Borough Council in the Borough's Fee Schedule. 

(3) Blue: represents a handicapped parking meter. The fee is established by 
Borough Council in the Borough's Fee Schedule. 

(4) Green: represents an electric vehicle (EV) parking meter. The fee is established 
by Borough Council in the Borough's Fee Schedule. 

(5) As an alternative, a person may purchase a monthly parking permit from the 
Borough at the rate(s) established by Borough Council in the Borough's Fee 
Schedule. The fee shall be on a per-month basis, which will entitle the holder of 
the lease to park in any legal parking space in the North, South, or West 
Municipal Lots as well as the "Resident" (R) or "Commuter" (C) on- street 
parking designated by Borough signage. The residential and commuter parking 
spaces are on-street parking areas on the outer limits of the downtown. Vehicles 
without a permit will be permitted to park in the "R" and "C" zones for up to 
one hour without penalty. 

(a) It shall be unlawful and a violation of this article for any person to permit 
a vehicle to remain in any parking space designated by Borough signage 
as "Resident" (R) or "Commuter" (C) on-street parking that does not hold 
a parking permit of the same. The fine for this violation is established by 
Borough Council in the Borough's Fee Schedule and may be updated from 
time to time. 

B. The display of a placard on the dashboard of the vehicle of the holder of the permit 
shall show that the vehicle is parked in accordance with this section of this article. 

Bellefonte Borough Council Packet February 3, 2025

Page 140 of 143



The placard shall be obtained from the Borough offices in exchange for the required 
monthly payment. The effective beginning and ending dates of the lease shall be 
prominently displayed on the placard. Permits may be purchased in advance for up 
to one year. 

 
 ENACTED AND ORDAINED, into an Ordinance this 3rd day of February 2025, by the 
Council of the Borough of Bellefonte in lawful session assembled. 
 
 
ATTEST:      BOROUGH OF BELLEFONTE: 
 
 
 
_______________________________  ____________________________ 
Ralph W. Stewart       Barbara Dann 
Borough Manager/Secretary     President of Council 
 
 
AND NOW, to wit, this 3rd day of February 2025, the within and above Ordinance is approved. 
         
                                                 
                         
               __________________________  
               Gene “Buddy” Johnson, Mayor 
        
 
 
  

Bellefonte Borough Council Packet February 3, 2025

Page 141 of 143



Bellefonte Borough Council Packet February 3, 2025

Page 142 of 143



Bellefonte Borough Council Packet February 3, 2025

Page 143 of 143


	WORK SESSION --AGENDA 02032025
	WORK SESSION--Lighting Complaint-Masullo Park
	COUNCIL MEETING--AGENDA 02032025
	COMMUNICATIONS--January 2025 CCRRA Quarterly Municipal Newsletter (1)
	COMMUNICATIONS--Resident Recommendation for Elementary School Property
	COMMUNICATIONS--Thank you letter to Matt Auman from Bellefonte Quaker Cemetery
	COMMUNICATIONS--2025 PSAB Conference Registration Brochure
	CONSENT--Budget V. Actual December 2024
	CONSENT--Budget V. Actual Summary December 2024
	CONSENT--Council Meeting Minutes.01212025.DRAFT
	CONSENT--Treasurers Report December 2024
	CONSENT--Voucher Summary December 2024
	REPORTS. Jr. Council Member Report January 2025
	REPORTS. OCA Memo to Council for meeting of 2.3.2025
	OLD BUSINESS--Public Transit Task Force update February 2025
	OLD BUSINESS--Committees of Council 2025
	Committees of Council email
	OLD BUSINESS--Committees of Council 2025
	Finance and Administration
	Environmental and Parks
	Infrastructure and Public Works


	NEW BUSINESS--Civil Service Commission Rules and Regulations
	NEW BUSINESS--Civil Service Commission Rules and Regulations
	DOC013125-01312025134552

	NEW BUSINESS--Ordinance No. 02032025-01 Amendment to Chapter 530 Vehicle and Traffic Ordinance .02032025
	NEW BUSINESS--Resolution No.02032025-01 Use of Force Policy
	NEW BUSINESS--Jason Ostroskie ShadeTree Commission Volunteer Application



